Genetic and Phenotypic Dissection of Smoke Induced Emphysema in Mouse

by Salomon Martin CORNEJO PERALES

Division of Experimental Medicine, Department of Medicine Meakins-Christie Laboratories McGill University, Montreal

April 2006

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

© Salomon Martin CORNEJO PERALES, 2006



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-28477-3 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-28477-3

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

- .

I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Manuel Cosio, whose guidance has been essential for the completion of my thesis project. The time I spent in his laboratory enriched me profoundly, personally and professionally.

Also, I would like to thank Dr. Danuta Radzioch, for her support and guidance during all this time that she acted as my co-supervisor. Similarly, I am extremely grateful to the members of my thesis committee, Dr. Katherine Cianflone, Dr. Rob Sladek and especially Dr. Christina Haston, whose assistance has been very valuable.

Very special thanks to all the members of my family for their immense support. To my parents, for everything they have done and given to me during all these years...son mi inspiración. A mi madre por su amor incondicional y a mi padre por su modelo de perseverancia y lucha. Rosy, eres un personaje indispensable en el libro de mi vida, gracias por tu apoyo y comprensión. Sandra, more than anything else my friend and confident, no sabes como te quiero. A mis hermanas, Lucy, Sally, Millie, Carla...life would have been extremely boring without you all ¡las adoro a todas! A mis *hijos*, Alejandra, Sebastián, Nicole, Natalia, Andrea, Vasco, Macarena y a todos los demás que vendrán.

Pour Alexandre, peu de gens on été aussi important dans ma vie. Tu m'as aidé à trouver des choses inconnues au plus profond de mon âme. Maintenant, ma vie est divisée en deux...avant et après t'avoir connu. Merci pour ta patience et pour ton appui dans cette longue aventure professionnelle.

I would also like to thank all the members of Dr. Cosio's laboratory. Dr. Yuma Hoshino for teaching me everything that had to be done in the lab and Dr. Heberto

ii

Ghezzo for his statistics support. To Kevin Whittaker, lab technician but above all a dear friend, who made this experience a very enjoyable one. Thank you very much for your support and advice, which went beyond the laboratory environment.

I would like to thank all the members of the Meakins-Christie Laboratories, who someway or another contributed to make this a lifetime experience.

Also, I would like to acknowledge The Quebec Respiratory Health Training Program for their financial support during my master's project.

Contributions of Authors:

The candidate performed all the research included in this thesis. Contributions of other authors to this work are described below:

From Dr. Manuel COSIO at the Meakins-Christie Laboratories, McGill University.

In **Chapter II**, all the experiments described inhere chapter, were performed by CORNEJO PERALES, Salomon M.

***** All the studies were conducted under the supervision of Dr. Manuel Cosio and Co-supervision of Dr. Danuta Radzioch

In addition to the manuscript included in this thesis, the candidate contributed to the following manuscript to be submitted:

Yuma Hoshino, Salomon Cornejo, Heberto Ghezzo, Ramon Marrades, Robert Sladek, Emil Skamene, John R. Hoidal, Danuta Radzioch, and Manuel G. Cosio (2005). Distinct Gene Expression Profiles in Lungs of Mice Resistant or Susceptible to Cigarette Smoke Induced Emphysema.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	page ii
Contribution of Authors	iv
Table of contents	v
List of figures and tables	vii
Abbreviations and Definitions	ix
Abstract	xi
Résumé	xii

Chapter I.

_

I.1. General Introduction	1
I.2. The genetics of COPD	4
I.2.1. Alpha-1 antitrypsin	5
I.2.2. Other candidate genes	5
I.3. COPD: A complex inflammatory disease	9
I.3.1. Cellular players	9
I.3.1.1. Neutrophils	11
I.3.1.2. Macrophages	13
I.3.1.3. T-lymphocytes	15
I.3.1.4. Epithelial cells	17
I.3.1.5. Other cellular players	
I.3.2. Molecular mediators	19
I.3.2.1. Cytokines	19
I.3.2.2. Chemokines	
I.3.2.3. Growth factors	25
I.3.2.4. Proteases	27
I.3.2.4.1. Serine proteases	27
I.3.2.4.2. Matrix metalloproteinases	28
I.3.2.4.3. Cysteine proteases	30
I.3.2.5. Lipid mediators	
I.3.2.6. Oxidative stress	31
I.4. Animal Models for COPD	34
I.4.1. Mouse models	34
Preface	42

Chapter II. Time-course Inflammatory and Genetic Profiling of C57BL/6 Mice After Chronic Smoke Exposure

II.1. Abstract	43
II.2. Introduction	44

II.3. Materials and Methods	46
II.3.1. Animal treatment	46
II.3.2. Microarray experiment	47
II.3.3. Gene expression analysis	48
II.3.4. Validation of gene expression analysis using real-time	
polymerase chain reaction	49
II.3.5. Bronchoalveolar lavage	50
II.3.6. Ribonuclease protection analysis of lung gene expression	50
II.4. Results	52
II.4.1. Lung morphology after chronic smoke exposure	52
II.4.2. Genes differentially expressed between control and	
smoke-exposed C57BL/6 mice	52
II.4.3. Validation of gene expression differences found by	
microarray data	61
II.4.4. Gene ontology classification	64
II.4.5. Inflammatory response	67
II.4.6. Cytokine expression	68
II.5. Discussion	71

Chapter III.

III.1. General discussion and conclusions	
---	--

References	89
Appendices	114

List of Figures and Tables

Chapter I

Figure 1.1	Annual decline of lung function	3
Figure 1.2	Complexity of the inflammatory reaction in COPD	.10
Figure 1.3	Partial pressure-volume (PV) curves between 3- and 9-cm H ₂ O pressure	.40
Table 1.1	Cellular inflammatory response after chronic smoke exposure	.38

Chapter II

Figure 2.1	Lung morphology after smoke exposure	53
Figure 2.2	Cluster analysis of microarray experiments in controls (CTR) and smoke-exposed (smoke) mice	59
Figure 2.3	Validation of the difference in mRNA expression between control and smoke-exposed mice for selected genes	62
Figure 2.4	Gene ontology-based analysis; effect of cigarette smoke on the gene expression in the lungs of mice	65
Figure 2.5	Comparison of relative abundance of cytokine mRNA over time between controls and smoke exposed mice as measured by RNase protection assay	69
Table 2.1	Genes differentially expressed between smoke-exposed and age-matched control C57BL/6 mice	55
Table 2.2	Genes without known-functions differentially expressed between smoke-exposed and age-matched control C57BL/6 mice	58
Table 2.3	Primer sequences for the validation of selected candidate genes	61
Table 2.4	Number of inflammatory cells in units in bronchoalveolar lavage $(x10^4/ml)$ at four different time points after smoke exposure	68

Chapter III

Figure 3.1	Proposed mechanism of inhibition of MMP-9 transcription in the C57BL/6 smoke-exposed mice
Figure 3.2	Elastance (Htis) at 3-cm H ₂ O positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) in F2 mice after 6 months of cigarette smoke exposure

viii

Abbreviations and Definitions

ACC	Animal care committee
ADRB2	Adrenergic, beta-2-, receptor, surface
AM	Alveolar macrophage
AP	Activator protein
APC	Antigen presenting cell
BAL	Bronchoalveolar lavage
CCR	Chemokine (C-C motif) receptor
CLUSFAVOR	Cluster and factor analysis with varimax orthogonal rotation
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
COB	Chronic obstructive bronchitis
СТ	Threshold cycle
CTP	Cytidine 5'-triphosphate
CXCR	Chemokine (C-X-C motif) receptor
ECP	Eosinophil cationic protein
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
ENA	Epithelial neutrophil activating protein
EPHX1	Epoxide hydrolase 1, microsomal (xenobiotic)
EPAS	Endothelial PAS domain protein
EPO	Eosinophil peroxidase
FEV ₁	Forced expiratory volume in 1 second
FVC	Forced vital capacity
GAPDH	Glyceraldehydes-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
G-CSF	Granulocyte colony stimulating factor
GM-CSF	Granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor
GO	Gene ontology
GRO	Growth related oncogene
GST	Glutathione S-transferase
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HMOX1	Heme oxygenase (decycling) 1
ICAM	Intracellular adhesion molecule
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
IP-10	Interferon-γ induced protein of 10 kDa
I-TAC	Interferon-inducible T cell y chemoattractant
LM	Mean linear intercept
LT	Leukotriene
MCP	Monocyte chemotactic protein
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MIG	Monokine induced by interferon- γ
MIP	Macrophage inflammatory protein
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinases
MSLN	Mesothelin
MUC	Mucin
NADPH	Nicotinamine adenine dinucleotide phosphate

NCF4	Neutrophil cytosolic factor 4
NE	Neutrophil elastase
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor-kB
NO	Nitric oxide
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PEEP	Positive end-expiratory pressure
PG	Prostaglandin
PHS	Prostaglandin H synthase
PMN	Polymorphonuclear cell
QTL	Quantitative trait loci
RAC2	RAS-related C3 botulinum substrate 2
RANTES	Released by activated normal T-cells expressed and secreted
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SE	Smoke-exposed
SLPI	Secretory leukoprotease inhibitor
SOD	Superoxide dismutase
SP	Surfactant protein
SPP	Secreted phosphoprotein
S100a8	S100 calcium binding protein A8 (calgranulin A)
S100a9	S100 calcium binding protein A9 (calgranulin B)
TBARS	Thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances
TGF	Transforming growth factor
TIMP	Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
UTP	Uridine 5'-triphosphate
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGF2	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2

ABSTRACT

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a composite of conditions that include an abnormal inflammatory response and emphysema. Cigarette smoking is the main risk factor for developing COPD and mouse models are widely used in the study of smoking induced emphysema. The C57BL/6 mouse strain develops airspace enlargement after chronic smoke exposure, with no change in lung mechanics. The broad objective of this thesis is to try to identify in mice, candidate genes that cause a difference in susceptibility to the development of the disease and to better understand the inflammatory process that occurs in response to smoke exposure.

A detailed introduction to COPD and proposed mechanisms of its pathophysiology are presented in Chapter I.

Chapter II consists of a manuscript containing data comparing the genetic expression profiles and inflammation in lung tissue of mice (C57BL/6) chronically exposed to cigarette smoke, with age-paired controls. The findings presented in Chapter II are discussed in greater detailed in Chapter III.

RÉSUMÉ

La maladie pulmonaire obstructive chronique (MPOC) est caractérisée, entre autre, par une réponse inflammatoire anormale et de l'emphysème. Le tabagisme est le principale facteur de risque de développement de la MPOC et le modèle animal le plus fréquemment utilisé pour l'étude de cette maladie est la souris, plus spécifiquement la souche C57BL/6. Cette dernièr est intéressante puisque, suite à l'exposition à la fumée de cigarette, les espaces aériens des poumons des souris C57BL/6 augment en volume mais leur fonction pulmonaire demeure inchangée. L'objectif principal de cette thèse est d'identifier, chez la souris, des gènes susceptibles d'influencer le développement de la maladie et de mieux comprendre le processus inflammatoire en reponse à l'exposition à la fumée de cigarette.

Le premier chapitre consiste en une introduction détaillée de la MPOC et de ses mécanismes pathophysiologiques probables.

Le deuxième chapitre présente un manuscrit comparant l'expression génétique et l'inflammation pulmonaire chez les souris (C57BL/6) exposées de manière chronique à la fumée de cigarette et celles du groupe contrôle. Finalement, les résultats présentés au chapitre II sont discutés en détail au dernier chapitre.

CHAPTER I.

I.1. – General introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) has been defined as "a disease state characterized by airflow limitation that is not fully reversible. The airflow limitation is usually progressive and associated with an abnormal inflammatory response of the lungs to noxious particles and gases" (1). COPD is a composite of conditions that include chronic obstructive bronchitis (COB), obstruction of the small airways, and emphysema. Emphysema is the enlargement of airspaces and destruction of lung parenchyma, which lead to loss of lung elasticity and closure of small airways (2). Furthermore, most COPD patients also present mucus hypersecretion, which is not necessarily accompanied by airflow limitation, but that may cause obstruction of the peripheral airways according to some studies (3).

COPD was the sixth leading cause of death worldwide in 1990, and according to the Global Burden of Disease Studies it will be the third most common cause of death in the world by the year 2020 (4-6). The COPD outburst is a global phenomenon, affecting the industrialized and developing worlds. A significant increase in cigarette smoking and environmental pollution in developing countries, are the main reasons for the rise in COPD cases (7). In countries like the USA, the number of affected individuals is estimated to be around 14 million and in 1995 this condition resulted in 92 thousand deaths (8;9). Similarly, in the UK in the last decade, there has been an increase in COPD diagnosis and hospital admissions due to this disease (10;11). These terrible predictions, together with growing health care costs have caused a boost of interest in COPD research,

in order to try to understand the cellular and molecular mechanisms responsible for the development of the disease, as well as a search for novel therapies (12).

Even though it is widely accepted that cigarette smoking is the main environmental determinant of COPD, several other factors like latent adenoviral infections, childhood respiratory infections, air pollution, and occupational exposures have been suggested as possible players (13;14). Furthermore, some studies have shown that diet and other factors during *in utero* and adolescent lung development might be important in the subsequent predisposition to obstructive lung disease (15-18). Although the importance of all these factors is likely to be small compared to cigarette smoking, they could interact with smoking causing an increase in the risk of COPD (9;19). Nowadays, in westernised societies more than 90% of patients develop COPD primarily due to cigarette smoking (20). However, only 15-20% of heavy smokers develop COPD, suggesting that other factors play a key role in determining which cigarette smokers are at risk of developing airflow obstruction (21).

The forced expiratory volume in 1s (FEV₁) declines normally at a rate of 20-30 ml/year in adult non-smokers. However, in most smokers a rate of decline of 30-45 ml/year is observed, and in a subset of smokers susceptible to the development of COPD this rate of decline can be as high as 80-100 ml/year (9) (Figure 1).

Among smokers, the propensity to develop COPD is only weakly correlated to the amount of cigarettes smoked, and only 15% of the variability in FEV_1 is accounted for by smoking history (9;22). These facts suggest that genetic determinants are crucial for determining susceptibility.



Figure 1.1 Annual decline of lung function. Smokers susceptible to the development of COPD show an accelerated annual decline in FEV_1 . Reproduced from Barnes (2004) (22).

For the most part, candidate gene and linkage analysis studies for COPD have given conflicting results, probably due to differences in study populations and disease phenotypes (23). In the past, the use of animal models has been proven useful in overcoming some of the problems encountered in studies using human subjects. Recently, it has been shown that different mouse strains vary in their susceptibility to develop COPD or at least emphysema, after been exposed to cigarette smoke (24).

The main objective of this thesis is to try to identify in mice, candidate genes that cause a difference in susceptibility to the disease. Furthermore, even though inflammation is a key component of COPD, little is known about the behaviour of the inflammatory process over time after smoke exposure. Thus, the kinetics of inflammation was studied in one mouse strains in an attempt to better understand this process.

I.2. – The genetics of COPD

As a complex disease, COPD can have influences from genetic factors, environmental determinants, and genotype-environment interactions. Even though cigarette smoking is the main risk factor for developing the disease, familial clustering studies of patients with early-onset COPD suggest that genes are also important (25). Furthermore, it has been shown that genetic factors influence variations in pulmonary function (26). However, the identification of individual genes responsible for determining susceptibility to the disease has been challenging and so far the only proven genetic cause for developing COPD is α_1 -antitrypsin deficiency.

I.2.1. – Alpha-1 antitrypsin

The Z allele of the α_1 -antitrypsin gene, which encodes for a serine protease inhibitor, is the main genetic factor in the development of emphysema. Patients homozygotes for the Z allele (PI ZZ) show levels of the α_1 -antitrypsin protein that are 10-15% of that produced by the normal M allele, due to a blockage in the final stage of processing of the protein in the liver (27;28). A molecular interaction between the reactive centre loop of one molecule and the gap in the A-sheet of another, cause the polymerization of the Z antitrypsin, inhibiting its release and causing its accumulation in the endoplasmic reticulum of hepatocytes (29). PI ZZ smokers are not only predisposed to develop emphysema at an earlier age than non-smoking PI ZZ individuals, but they also show a greater rate of decline in FEV₁ than never smokers or ex-smokers(30-32). On the other hand, even though heterozygotes (PI MZ) have plasma levels of the α_1 antitrypsin protein that are around 65% of normal, they show no clear increased risk of lung damage (9;33). However, severe α_1 -antitrypsin deficiency is a rare occurrence and it only explains 1-2% of all COPD cases, which suggests of the existence of other genetic factors involved in the susceptibility of smokers to develop chronic airflow obstruction.

I.2.2. – Other candidate genes

Recently there has been an increased interest in conducting linkage analysis studies for COPD and suggestive linkage for airflow obstruction, chronic bronchitis and several spirometrical parameters have been found (34-37). Even though the results are only suggestive, they can be used as a guide for the selection of candidate genes needed for association studies.

Several candidate genes that might predispose smokers to COPD have been assessed in case-control studies. The destruction of the lung parenchyma observed in COPD patients and the development of the disease due to a deficiency in α_1 -antitrypsin, suggested that other antiproteases could be important. Alpha 1-antichymotrypsin, a plasma serine protease inhibitor, has been studied in this context and several polymorphisms have been found. Two point mutations, which cause a change in the amino acid sequence of this gene (227Pro \rightarrow Ala and 55Leu \rightarrow Pro) have been associated with COPD (38;39). Poller *et al.* found an association between COPD and the point mutation that causes the change of proline for alanine at position 227 on the α_1 antichymotrypsin protein. However, this study was not replicated by two other groups (40;41). On the other hand, it has been shown that the 55Leu \rightarrow Pro mutation causes a conformational change that favours the spontaneous polymerization of the protein, rendering it unable to exit hepatocytes and leading to low levels of circulating α_1 antichymotrypsin (42). Nevertheless, this variant is very rare and this deficiency is unlikely to account for a large proportion of COPD cases.

A deregulation in the expression of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) has been suggested as a possible mechanism for the pathogenesis of emphysema. MMPs are potent proteinases capable of degrading the extracellular matrix components and studies in animal models show that they can cause airspace enlargement (43). Minematsu *et al.* found an association between a functional polymorphism ($C \rightarrow T$) of MMP-9 at position -1562 and the development of emphysema in a Japanese population (44). Another group failed to find an association between MMP-9 polymorphisms and the rate of decline in lung function in smokers, but found one with the MMP-1 (G–1607GG) and MMP-12 $(357Asn \rightarrow Ser)$ haplotypes (45). These findings need further confirmation and other polymorphisms in the various members of the MMP family have yet to be studied.

Tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), which is a cytokine that has a crucial role in the inflammatory response, is one more gene that has been assessed by case control studies. Around 10% of the population carry a variant of this gene, known as tumour necrosis factor 2, which is the result of a transition (G \rightarrow A) at position -308 in the 5' promoter region of this gene, and which leads to a two fold increase in TNF- α plasma levels (46). Huang *et al.* found that this polymorphism was more common among COPD patients than controls matched for age, sex and smoking history, in a Taiwanese population (47). However, opposite results have been found by two other groups which have studied this polymorphism in Italian and British populations (48;49).

Beta2-adrenoreceptor (ADRB2) is a key player in the regulation of smooth muscle tone and several polymorphisms in the coding region of the gene have been identified and associated with asthma severity, airway hyperresponsiveness, and level of lung function (50-53). Ho *et al.* found that the $16\text{Arg}\rightarrow\text{Gly}$ polymorphism was less frequent in COPD patients than in healthy controls from a Chinese population (54). However, another group found no association between this polymorphism and the rate of decline of lung function, bronchial hyperresponsiveness or bronchodilator response in smokers (55).

Another gene that has been studied is the one that encodes for the microsomal epoxide hydrolase (EPHX1), which is a metabolizing enzyme important in the detoxification of exogenous chemicals (56). Cigarette smoke contains around 4,700 chemical compounds and each puff carries $\sim 10^{14}$ radicals, which have the capacity to

damage the lung (57;58). Therefore, smokers with defects in the detoxification process could be more susceptible to the development of emphysema. Smith and Harrison found that a greater proportion of Caucasian subjects with COPD had a slow epoxide hydrolase activity compared to healthy controls (59). However, these results were not reproduced by Yim *et al.* in a Korean population (60).

Glutathione S-transferases (GSTs), another group of detoxifying enzymes, have been studied due to their possible protective role in the development of emphysema and lung cancer. A null genotype of the GSTM1 gene, which is normally expressed in the lung and the liver, occurs in between 30-50% of humans, depending on the ethnic origin of the individual (61). The deletion of this gene has been associated with emphysema in lung cancer patients, as well as with severe chronic bronchitis in heavy smokers (62;63). However, in a Korean population there was no association between GSTM1 polymorphisms and COPD (60).

Oxidant injury is believed to be another factor contributing to the development of emphysema. Heme oxygenase-1 (HMOX1) catalyzes the first and rate-limiting step in the oxidative degradation of heme to biliverdin (64). HMOX1 has been shown to be induced mainly by heme, but also by cytokines, heavy metals, endotoxin and hormones(65-68); and it has been found to protect cells from oxidant injury (69). Yamada *et al.* found an association between a microsatellite polymorphism (GT)_n within the HMOX1 promoter and emphysema in Japanese smokers (70). The authors show that the proportion of allelic frequencies and genotypes with \geq 30 GT repeats was significantly larger in emphysema patients than in smokers without the disease. Even though it is biologically reasonable that HMOX1 is associated with COPD, more studies are needed in order to confirm these results.

I.3. - COPD: A complex inflammatory disease

Cigarette smoke triggers an inflammatory response, which is believed to be crucial for the development of COPD. The chronic inflammation observed in the lungs of smokers who develop the disease is thought to be responsible for the remodelling and narrowing of the small airways and emphysema. Furthermore, studies have shown that the progression of the disease is correlated to the increase in inflammation in the lung parenchyma and airways, in a process that involves both innate and adaptive immune cells (71). As a complex inflammatory disease, multiple inflammatory cells and mediators have been implicated in the development of COPD, but their relationship with each other and the specific sequence in which they appear and persist in the lung is still not completely understood (22) (Figure 2).

I.3.1. – Cellular players

For many years, researchers proposed the protease/antiprotease imbalance hypothesis based on the findings that individuals with α_1 -antitrypsin deficiency develop early onset emphysema and that the instillation of elastolytic enzymes produced emphysema in laboratory animals (72). Furthermore, the increased neutrophil and macrophage numbers in the lungs of COPD patients, led researchers believe that these cells were the key mediators of the lung destruction observed in COPD. However, this hypothesis has been constantly challenged due to an inability to correlate neutrophil



Figure 1.2 Complexity of the inflammatory reaction in COPD. Inflammation in this pathology involves multiple activated inflammatory and structural cells, which can release several factors that can prolong and amplify inflammation, as well as cause tissue destruction. Abbrev: LTB4, leukotriene B4; MCP, monocyte chemotactic protein; MIP, macrophage inflammatory protein; GRO, growth related oncogene; GM-CSF, granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor; TNF, tumour necrosis factor; ROS, reactive oxygen species; NO, nitric oxide; TGF, transforming growth factor; MMP, matrix metalloproteinases. Modified and adapted from Barnes (2003) (2).

numbers to the extent of emphysema and by the findings that the lungs of COPD patients have a significant T-cell infiltration that is related to the degree of lung destruction (73;74). Overall, studies have shown abnormal numbers of $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T-cells, as well as macrophages, neutrophils, and B lymphocytes (13;71;74-76). These findings have made researchers hypothesize that COPD could have an autoimmune component, which originates in the lung induced by cigarette smoke (77-79).

I.3.1.1. – Neutrophils

Studies have shown the presence of abnormally elevated numbers of neutrophils in the sputum and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid of patients with airway obstruction (80-82). However, when the lung parenchyma and airways are analysed, neutrophils are only slightly increased (74). These findings could be explained by the fact that neutrophils have the ability to transit fast through the interstitial space, making their passage through the lungs and airways a rapid event (2;83). Even though it is not clear what exact role neutrophils play in the development of COPD, it has been shown that circulating levels of this inflammatory cell correlate with the decline in FEV_1 (84). Animal studies have demonstrated that neutrophils are rapidly recruited to the airways in response to cigarette smoke and other irritants (85). Moreover, cigarette smoke stimulates the production and release of neutrophils from the bone marrow, and some of its components, like nicotine, can act as chemotactic factors for these inflammatory cells (86;87). Furthermore, smoking may cause a reduction in the rate of neutrophils clearance from the lungs (88).

Neutrophils have the capacity to induce alveolar breakdown by the secretion of serine proteases, like neutrophil elastase (NE), cathepsin G, and proteinase-3, at the same time as MMP-8 and MMP-9 (7). In addition, these serine proteases can potently stimulate mucus production, and studies show a direct correlation between the quantities of sputum expectorated in a day and the levels of NE in the secretion (83). The recruitment of neutrophils to the lungs is a complex sequence of events, which include the adherence to the vascular endothelium, via adhesion molecules like E-selectin, which has been proven to be up-regulated on bronchial vessels of COPD patients (89). After adhesion, neutrophils continue their migration into the respiratory tract following chemotactic factors, like interleukin 8 (IL-8), epithelial neutrophil activating protein 78 (ENA-78), leukotriene B₄ (LTB₄), and growth related oncogene- α (GRO- α), all of which are elevated in COPD (90;91). Once in the lung, neutrophils have the ability to cause tissue damage by releasing proteases and oxidants. Even though, not much is known about neutrophil survival and apoptosis in COPD, studies have shown that smoke stimulates the survival of this inflammatory cell in the respiratory tract, probably mediated by granulocytemacrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) (86;92).

Even though neutrophils have the potential of causing tissue destruction, reports from multiple groups show that there is not a significant increase in the numbers of this cell type in the lungs of COPD patients (76;82;93). In fact, Finkelstein *et al.* demonstrated a negative correlation between the number of

neutrophils and the degree of alveolar wall destruction (74). Moreover, a high degree of elastolysis is not observed in other pathologies, like cystic fibrosis, in which levels of neutrophils are more elevated than in COPD (22). These findings suggest that there are other players in the development of emphysema and that neutrophils instead of contributing to it are probably a consequence of the disease.

I.3.1.2. – Macrophages

Macrophages are key players in pulmonary host defence, by reacting to endogenous and exogenous stimuli and producing factors that can alter the behaviour of neighbouring cells (94). Smoking can cause more than a fivefold increase in the number of cells recovered in BAL fluid, of which at least 95% are macrophages (95). Moreover, elevated numbers of this type of inflammatory cell have been observed not only in BAL fluid, but also in the lung parenchyma and airways, as well as sputum of COPD patients (2). An analysis done by Retamales *et al.* showed a 25-fold increase in the number of macrophages present in the tissue and airspaces of emphysematous lungs, compared to normal smokers (13). Several studies have shown the existence of macrophage concentration at sites of alveolar destruction in emphysema patients and a positive correlation between the number of macrophages and the extent of the disease (74;96). Due to their predominant presence in the lungs and to their ability to account for most of the known characteristics of COPD, it is believed that macrophages have a crucial role in the pathogenesis of this disease (95). The importance of macrophages in the development of emphysema has been further reinforced by studies using animal models. Ofulue and Ko depleted the lungs of cigarette smoke-exposed rats from either macrophages or neutrophils, and observed that in the absence of neutrophils airspace enlargement due to smoke exposure was not prevented. However, when macrophages were not present, rats exposed to cigarette smoke were protected from lung destruction, suggesting that the smoke-induced elastin breakdown might be macrophage dependent (97).

Macrophages can release inflammatory mediators like TNF- α , IL-8, LTB₄, and reactive oxygen species, as well as elastolytic enzymes like MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-9, MMP-12, cathepsin K, L and S and neutrophil elastase from endocytosed neutrophils (7;43;98;99). Cell culture studies have shown that alveolar macrophages from COPD patients produce more inflammatory mediators and have greater elastolytic activity (98;100). Moreover, the transcription factor nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B), which controls most of the inflammatory mediators that are up-regulated, is activated in these cells (101).

Two possible scenarios could explain the elevated numbers of macrophages in the lungs of COPD patients; they could be the result of enhanced recruitment of monocytes from the circulation or from increased survival and proliferation in the lungs (92). Monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) and GRO- α , two chemoattractants for monocytes, are increased in the sputum and BAL fluid of patients with COPD (91;102). Similarly, there is an overexpression

of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-X_L and $p21^{CIP/WAF1}$ in macrophages from smokers, suggesting that these cells might have prolonged survival (2;103).

I.3.1.3. – T-lymphocytes

For years, researchers debated upon the importance of macrophages and neutrophils in the pathogenesis of COPD, neglecting the possible crucial roles that other cells could play. It was not until Finkelstein *et al.* reported increased numbers of T-cells in patients with COPD that the significance of these cells was made obvious (74). This group showed a correlation between the number of T-lymphocytes/mm³ and the extent of the disease. Studies followed confirming the existence of elevated numbers of T-cells in the airways and lung parenchyma of COPD patients, with a predominance of CD8⁺ cells (13;71;75;76;104). There is increasing evidence that most of the T-lymphocytes found in COPD airways are of the Tc1 and Th1 subtypes, producing interferon- γ (IFN- γ), a potent macrophage activating cytokine (105;106). The elevated numbers of CD4⁺ T-cells, suggest that they might play a role in the inflammatory process. CD4⁺ cells are necessary for the priming of CD8⁺ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses and for the survival of these cells, suggesting a linkage between the elevated numbers of CD4⁺ T-cells and the CD8⁺ cell infiltrate found in smokers (107).

The presence of T-lymphocytes in the lungs of COPD patients, suggest that they play an active role in the development of the disease because normally these cells when not activated would not remain in the lung for a prolonged period of time. In order for T-cells to migrate to the lungs and proliferate, they need to be

activated by antigen presenting cells (APC), in a process in which they recognize an antigen which is being produced in this organ. It has been proposed that the initial inflammatory response composed of macrophages and neutrophils produces lung injury, resulting in the creation of cross-reactive neoantigens or the release of sequestered autoantigens (107). Once in the lung, T-cells could start producing cytokines, like IFN- γ , which would lead to an amplification of the inflammatory response by recruiting and activating macrophages (108). Interestingly, there is a correlation between the number of T-cells and macrophages in the lungs of smokers (74). Furthermore, activated macrophages secrete cytokines like IL-12, which promotes the differentiation of T-lymphocytes into the Tc1 and Th1 subsets (107). In this way, the T-cell infiltration could be responsible for the amplification and perpetuation of inflammation in the lungs of COPD patients.

Saetta *et al.* showed that the T-lymphocytes present in the lungs of COPD patients overexpress CXCR3, a receptor activated by the chemokines: monokine induced by interferon- γ (MIG), interferon- γ induced protein of 10 kDa (IP-10) and interferon-inducible T cell γ chemoattractant (I-TAC) (105). Furthermore, this group also demonstrated that there is increased expression of IP-10 in the bronchiolar epithelium of smokers with COPD, but not in the epithelial cells of normal smokers or non-smoking controls.

The exact function of the increased $CD8^+$ cells in the pathogenesis of COPD is still unknown. However, it is clear that these cells can have a cytotoxic effect on epithelial cells, causing cytolysis and apoptosis through the release of granzymes, performs and TNF- α (78;109). COPD patients have been reported to

have elevated concentrations of performs in their sputum, as well as increased apoptosis of their alveolar cells, which correlates with an increase in the number of $CD8^+$ cells (75;110).

I.3.1.4. – Epithelial cells

In response to external stimuli, like allergens and cigarette smoke, epithelial cells can modify their normal defence mechanisms, such as the production of oxygen and nitrogen species, mucus secretion and the influx of inflammatory cells (111). Furthermore, it is widely documented that the epithelium is a source of inflammatory mediators in lung pathologies like asthma, suggesting a possible involvement in COPD. Studies have shown that cigarette smoke activates epithelial cells to produce IL-8, TNF- α , IL-1 β , and GM-CSF (112;113). Moreover, de Boer *et al.* found increased mRNA and protein expression of MCP-1 in epithelial cells and its receptor CCR2 in macrophages of COPD patients, suggesting that epithelial cells play a role in the recruitment of macrophages to the airway epithelium (114).

Alveolar cell survival is dependant on vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and studies in rats have shown that blockage of VEGF receptor 2 (VEGF2) cause apoptosis of alveolar cells leading to airspace enlargement (115). Other than forming part of the innate defence system, by secreting defensins, epithelial cells also play a role in tissue repair processes and adaptive immune responses (22). Epithelial cells have the ability to produce secretory leukoprotease inhibitor (SLPI), which is not only an antiprotease but also induces the

proliferation of these cells (116). Gompertz *et al.* found lower concentrations of SLPI in the sputum of COPD patients with more frequent exacerbations (117).

I.3.1.5 – Other cellular players

Due to their widespread localization in the lungs and its key role in the integration of the innate and adaptive immune responses, dendritic cells are believed to be important in the reaction of the lungs to noxious agents (92). Dendritic cells have the capacity to activate a large number of immune cells, like neutrophils, macrophages, T- and B- lymphocytes (118). Exposure to cigarette smoke leads to increases in the number of dendritic cells found in mice lungs (119;120). Furthermore, several groups have reported an accumulation of these cells in the airways and lung parenchyma of smokers (121;122). However the exact mechanisms how smoke triggers an activation of the immune system is still not clear and more studies are needed in order to determine the relevance of dendritic cells in this process.

Even though the role of eosinophils is well established in asthma, their involvement in the pathophysiology of COPD is still unknown. There have been conflicting results in studies looking at the eosinophilic profile in airways and BAL during stable COPD (20). Keatings and Barnes found elevated concentrations of eosinophil cationic protein (ECP) and eosinophil peroxidase (EPO) in the sputum of COPD patients (123). However, there was an absence of eosinophils, suggesting that these cells might have degranulated. On the other hand, Saetta *et al.* have reported the existence of eosinophilia during exacerbations of COPD (124;125). The data available indicates that these cells might be primordially important during periods of exacerbation.

I.3.2. – Molecular mediators

COPD is a complex inflammatory disease, in which multiple inflammatory and structural cells are believed to take part. Furthermore, this wide spectrum of cells produces a variety of interactive mediators, like cytokines, chemokines, growth factors and lipids, amongst others.

I.3.2.1 – Cytokines

Due to the inflammatory nature of COPD it is not surprising that multiple cytokines have been implicated in the pathology of this disease (99). Analyses of the sputum of COPD patients have shown increased levels of soluble TNF receptors and TNF- α , especially during exacerbations (81;126;127). Furthermore, in a group of COPD patients who show weight loss, the levels of TNF- α in the circulation are elevated and peripheral blood monocytes show increase production of this cytokine, suggesting its involvement in cachexia (128). TNF- α , which can be produced by macrophages, T-lymphocytes, mast and epithelial cells, activates NF- κ B, that switches on the transcription of chemokines and proteases (2). Additionally, TNF- α increases the expression of intracellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), which is augmented in the serum and lavage of COPD patients (129). Muscle wasting is a characteristic seen in COPD and TNF- α has been shown to be a potent inhibitor of myogenesis via the activation of the NF- κ B pathway (130). Moreover, studies using a knockout mouse model for the TNF receptor, suggest that TNF might be responsible for \sim 70% of the smoke-induced emphysema seen in mice (131).

A second potent proinflammatory cytokine that might be involved in COPD is IL-1 β . This cytokine induces the release of neutrophils from the bone marrow, as well as the secretion of a variety of cytokines, some of which are IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, released by activated normal T-cells expressed and secreted (RANTES), GM-CSF, IFN-y, and TNF from different inflammatory cells (99). IL-1 β activates alveolar macrophages leading to the release of MMP-9 in a dose dependent manner, and this effect is increased in alveolar macrophages from COPD patients (132). Similarly, this cytokine also induces the expression of other MMPs, including MMP-2, MMP-3 and MMP-13 (133). Cigarette smoke causes an increase in the release of IL-1 β from epithelial cells of COPD patients *in vitro*, but this effect is not seen in smokers with normal lung function (134). Lucey et al. compared the response to elastase intratracheal instillation between IL-1 β receptor knockout mice, TNF- α receptor deficient mice and mice deficient of both receptors. After the end of the treatment, mice with the double deficiency had significantly lower emphysema compared to the other groups, suggesting that both TNF- α and IL-1 β are important in the development of COPD (135).

Levels of IL-6 are elevated in the BAL fluid of smokers as well as in the exhaled breath condensate, induced sputum and plasma of COPD patients, especially during exacerbations (136-140). This cytokine can be produced by monocytes, macrophages, T- and B-lymphocytes, fibroblasts and epithelial cells,

and acts as a T- and B- cell growth factor (99). However its precise role in the pathogenesis of COPD is not certain.

Other interleukins studied in the context of COPD are IL-9 and IL-13, amongst others. T-cells from bronchial biopsies of COPD patients show increased expression of IL-9 (141). Even though the exact relevance of IL-9 in the disease is not known, this cytokine induces mucus cell metaplasia by increasing the expression of MUC5AC, suggesting a possible role in mucus plugging observed in some COPD patients (142). Bronchial biopsies of smokers with mucus hypersecretion show elevated levels of IL-13 compared to normal smokers (143). Furthermore, van der Pouw Kraan et al. have shown an association between a polymorphism (C \rightarrow T) at position -1055 in the promoter region of the IL-13 gene and COPD (144). In the mouse, overexpression of this cytokine leads to increased production of MMP-2, MMP-9, MMP-12, MMP-13, and MMP-14 and cathepsins B, S, L, H, and K, resulting in emphysema (145). A study by the same group showed a similar phenotype when IFN- γ was overexpressed (146). Subjects with COPD show a lung infiltration of Tc1 and Th1 cells, which produce IFN- γ , as well as increased levels of Th1 lymphocytes in the peripheral blood (106;147). IFN- γ has the potential of perpetuating inflammation by activating macrophages and epithelial cells, which secrete CXCR3 chemoattractants, leading to further increases in T-cells (78).

GM-CSF is a cytokine produced by a wide spectrum of inflammatory and structural cells, including T-lymphocytes, macrophages, airway smooth muscle and epithelial cells (99). BAL fluid of COPD patients show increased levels of

this cytokine and a greater increase is seen during exacerbations (148). GM-CSF is involved in the priming and survival of inflammatory cells like neutrophils and eosinophils (22;149). Furthermore, it induces macrophages to produce and secrete other cytokines, like IL-1 and TNF- α (99).

I.3.2.2. – Chemokines

Chemokines are a class of cytokines which are usually small (7-10kDa) secreted proteins involved in the trafficking and recruitment of leukocytes into tissues (150). They produce their biological effects by interacting with specific G-protein coupled receptors in their target cells, and mediate cellular processes like proliferation, differentiation and survival of these cells (22;151). Multiple chemokines have been now implicated in the inflammatory process of COPD (152).

IL-8, a CXC chemokine, is a potent neutrophil chemoattractant and activator, promoting exocytosis and release of enzymes and proteins from cell granules (99). It is produced, upon stimulation with other cytokines, in several cells, including macrophages, neutrophils, epithelial and endothelial cells (153). Levels of this chemokine in the sputum of subjects with COPD are increased and they correlate with the severity of the disease (81;154). Similarly, IL-8 levels are elevated in BAL fluid of smokers with emphysema but not in normal smokers (90). Furthermore, IL-8 has chemotactic activity towards CD8⁺ T-lymphocytes and B-cells, possibly explaining the high numbers of these cells seen in the lungs of COPD patients (99;155). The exact source of IL-8 in COPD is not known, but

several studies have shown that airway epithelial cells and alveolar macrophages from COPD patients have increased basal secretion of this chemokine (156;157). In addition, during acute exacerbations, airway epithelial cells up-regulate the expression of CXCR2, one of the IL-8 receptors, and levels of its mRNA correlate with the numbers of neutrophils in bronchial biopsies of subjects with COPD (158).

Another CXC chemokine that has been involved in COPD is GRO- α . This chemokine is produced by airway epithelial cells and alveolar macrophages, upon stimulation with cytokines (22). Like IL-8, GRO- α has high affinity for the CXCR2 receptor, through which it activates monocytes, neutrophils and basophils (159). Induced sputum and BAL fluid from COPD patients have elevated levels of GRO- α , and BAL leukocytes from smokers secrete more of this chemokine after stimulation (91;160). Furthermore, GRO- α has a greater chemotactic effect on monocytes from COPD patients, than from normal subjects, possibly explaining the accumulation of alveolar macrophages observed in COPD lungs (13;161).

Epithelial cells are believed to be involved in the development of inflammation by producing cytokines and chemokines like the epithelial cellderived neutrophil-activating peptide-78 (ENA-78). Morrison *et al.* showed that after stimulation, BAL cells from smokers secrete significantly more ENA-78 than cells from non-smokers (160). Furthermore, during exacerbations, there is an up-regulation of the ENA-78 gene in epithelial cells (158). However, there is no
difference between ENA-78 levels in the BAL fluid of COPD patients and normal smokers (90).

MCP-1 is a CC-chemokine that attracts and activates monocytes, macrophages, mast and T-cells via the CCR2 receptor (162). This chemokine is expressed in macrophages, epithelial and endothelial cells, as well as Tlymphocytes, and its expression can be induced by cytokines like TNF- α and IL-1 β (114;163). The sputum, BAL fluid and lungs of COPD patients have increased levels of MCP-1 (91;102;114). In mice, intratracheal instillation of this chemokine leads to a macrophage infiltration of the lungs and magnifies smokeinduced emphysema (164).

CXC3 chemokines, like IP-10, MIG and I-TAC, activate CXCR3, a receptor that is overexpressed in T-cells of the peripheral airways of COPD patients (105). Furthermore, the lungs of these patients show increased expression of IP-10, possibly explaining the accumulation of CD8⁺ T-cells observed their lungs (105;165). IP-10 can be produced by a variety of cells, including alveolar macrophages, epithelial cells and airway smooth muscle cells, giving them the potential to attract CD8⁺ T-lymphocytes (105;165;166). IFN- γ can induce the production of IP-10 and Mig from multiple cells (22). In this was, by producing IFN- γ and leading to the subsequent recruitment of more T-cells, Tc1 cells in the lungs of COPD patients could be responsible for the perpetuation of inflammation (78).

Even though eosinophils are not the most predominant inflammatory cell in the lungs of stable COPD patients, their numbers increase significantly during

exacerbations (124). Therefore, chemoattractants for eosinophils, such as RANTES and eotaxin, might play an important role in these periods of the disease. RANTES mRNA levels are increased in epithelial and subepithelial cells and correlate with increased numbers of eosinophils in the lungs of patients with chronic bronchitis exacerbations (167).

I.3.2.3. – Growth factors

COPD is characterized by dramatic structural changes in the lungs and growth factors could play a significant role in the pathogenesis of the disease by been involved in airway repair and remodelling processes (99). The three main growth factors that have been implicated in COPD are: transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), epidermal growth factor (EGF), and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF).

TGF- β 1 regulates the synthesis of extracellular matrix proteins like collagen and fibronectin, as well as the proliferation and differentiation of cells (168). Furthermore, it can act as a chemotactic factor for monocytes, mast cells and T-lymphocytes (169;170). TGF- β 1 is normally expressed in the bronchial epithelium, smooth muscle and alveolar macrophages (171). mRNA levels of this growth factor are increased in the epithelial cells of the small airways of smokers, and correlates with smoking history and the degree of small airway obstruction (172). Furthermore, de Boer *et al.* found increased mRNA and protein levels of TGF- β 1 in bronchiolar and alveolar epithelium of COPD lungs, and these levels correlated with the number of macrophages present in the lungs (168). Monocytes from the peripheral blood of COPD patients have been shown to have increased production of TGF- β (173).

Alveolar macrophages also synthesize TGF- α , which as EGF, can activate the EGF receptor (EGFR) (22). Activation of EGFR leads to increased expression of the mucin genes, mucus production and goblet cell metaplasia (174). Cigarette smoke causes the shedding of TGF- α from the epithelial cell surface, leading to the binding and activation of EGFR (175). This suggests that EGF and EGFR might be responsible for the mucus plugging present in some COPD cases.

VEGF is a growth factor that is involved in angiogenesis, cell survival and vascular permeability. Furthermore, it can act as a chemoattractant for vascular smooth muscle cells, polymorphonuclear cells, and monocytes (176). It is believed that VEGF modulates the functional and structural changes seen in the pulmonary circulation in COPD (22). Santos *et al.* found increased expression of VEGF in the pulmonary vascular arteries of smokers and mild COPD patients, but not in subjects with severe disease (177). The authors suggest that VEGF might be responsible for the vessel remodelling observe in COPD primordially during the early stages of the disease. Chronic treatment of rats with a VEGF receptor blocker leads to septal cell apoptosis and air space enlargement (115). Similarly, VEGF levels are increased in the induced sputum of chronic bronchitis patients and correlate with airflow limitation. However, in patients with emphysema, decreased concentrations of VEGF are observed and these are associated with airflow limitation and degree of alveolar destruction (178).

I.3.2.4. – Proteases

The protease/antiprotease hypothesis for the development of COPD was proposed long time ago after the findings that patients with α_1 -antitrypsin deficiency develop emphysema and that the use of proteases leads to airspace enlargement in animal models. Even though the initial hypothesis focused on neutrophil elastase as the main mediator of destruction, it is likely that other proteases and the interactions between proteases and other mediators play more important roles in the pathogenesis of the disease (72).

I.3.2.4.1. – Serine proteases

Neutrophil elastase (NE) is a powerful serine protease 218 amino acids long, that has the ability to break most of the extracellular matrix protein components and proteins of the complement cascade (179). The reactive site of NE is composed of the catalytic triad Hisp-Asp-Ser, which after a proton transfer becomes highly nucleophilic, capable of attacking the peptide bonds in the target substrate (180). NE is synthesized by myelocytic precursor cells in the bone marrow and the NE gene gets turned off before neutrophils leave this tissue (181). NE is stored in azurophilic granules in the cytoplasm of neutrophils from which it is secreted upon stimulation (182). Intratracheal instillation of NE leads to emphysema in hamsters and the use of a NE inhibitor reduces airspace enlargement in smoke-exposed guinea pigs (183;184). Furthermore, Shapiro *et al.* have shown that NE ^{-/-} mice exposed to smoke have impaired recruitment of monocytes and neutrophils to the lungs and do not develop emphysema (180). BAL fluid from COPD patients have increased concentrations of the complex formed by NE and its inhibitor, α_1 -antitrypsin (185). Moreover, Betsuyaku *et al.* found that levels of this complex in BAL fluid correlate with the rate of decline in FEV₁ (186).

Even though proteolysis is the main function of NE, there are other roles that this serine protease could play in the development of COPD. Cell culture experiments show that bronchial epithelial cells synthesize more IL-8, a neutrophil chemoattractant, in response to NE, suggesting a possible role of this protease in the perpetuation of inflammation (187). Additionally, it causes goblet cell degranulation, promoting mucus hypersecretion, which can be the origin of severe cough, airway plugging, and further inflammation (188).

Primary granules of neutrophils also contain two other serine proteases, cathepsin G and proteinase 3 (43). As NE, these two proteases also promote mucus hypersecretion and might be implicated in the pathogenesis of COPD (189;190).

I.3.2.4.2. – Matrix metalloproteinases

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are a large family of zinc-dependent proteinases that can be classified based on their target substrates as collagenases (MMP-1, -8, and -13), gelatinases (MMP-2 and -9), stromelysins (MMP-3, -10 and -11), elastases (MMP-7 and -12) and membrane associated MMPs (MT-MMPs, MMP-14, -15, -16, and -17) (191). MMPs are mainly secreted by macrophages, neutrophils and pulmonary epithelial cells when activated in response to different mediators (192). These proteinases have the ability to degrade all the components of the extracellular matrix but their proteolytic activity can also play an important role in immunity. They can cleave cytokines and chemokines, regulating their gradients consequently affecting the migration of inflammatory cells (193;194). Furthermore, they can regulate other processes, including cellular proliferation, apoptosis, and intercellular communications (195).

Studies using mice have demonstrated that overexpression of human MMP-1 in the lungs of these animals leads to spontaneous airspace enlargement (196). Furthermore, mice deficient in MMP-12 are protected from smoke-induced emphysema (164). Similarly, Leco *et al.* showed that lungs of mice lacking tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-3 (TIMP-3) develop spontaneously emphysema-like lesions (197). The studies using animal models demonstrate that MMPs have the capacity to disturb the normal lung architecture and cause airspace enlargement. However, studies in subjects with COPD suggest that the repertoire of MMPs important in the pathogenesis of the disease might be different in humans than in murine models (191).

Concentrations of MMP-1 and MMP-9 are elevated in the BAL fluid of COPD patients, and this is probably a reflection of the observed increased expression of these proteinases in alveolar macrophages of these subjects (198;199). Immunohistochemical analyses have also shown increased expression of MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-8, MMP-9, and -14 in COPD lungs (200;201). Furthermore, Kang *et al.* found a correlation between the concentration of MMP-9 and smoking history as well as with FEV₁ (202). A study found that the main sources of MMP-1 in COPD lungs are type II pneumocytes, suggesting that these cells might also play a role in lung destruction (203). There have been conflicting results about the expression of MMP-12 in COPD lungs. Although MMP-12 seems to be important in mouse models, in humans MMP-9 appears to be the main MMP (191).

I.3.2.4.3. – Cysteine proteases

Lysosomal cysteine proteases (Cathepsins) are a group of proteases that are synthesized as inactive precursors and require the removal of the N-terminal propeptide in order to become functional (204). Even though their main function is the degradation of proteins in the lysosome, they have also been implicated in other processes, including apoptosis, extracellular matrix remodeling, prohormone processing, and MHC class II responses (205). Mice overexpressing IFN- γ show increased levels of cathepsins B, D, H, L and S in their lungs and develop emphysema (146). Moreover, treatment with cathepsin inhibitors decreases the inflammation and airspace enlargement seen in mice overexpressing IL-13 (145). BAL fluid from smokers with emphysema has increased concentrations of cathepsin L compared to normal smokers (206). Furthermore, macrophages from COPD patients have a greater cysteine elastase activity upon stimulation (98).

I.3.2.5. – Lipid mediators

Lipid mediators, such as prostaglandins and leukotrienes, could play an important role in the pathogenesis of emphysema. Exhaled breath condensate of

COPD patients show increased concentrations of prostaglandin (PG)E₂, PGF_{2a} and LTB₄ (207). Prostaglandin H synthase (PHS) is an enzyme that performs the rate limited step in the biochemical reaction that generates prostaglandins (208). Macrophages from COPD patients have increased expression of PHS-2, one of the two PHS isoforms, compared to controls (209). PGE₁ induces mucous cell development and mucin gene synthesis in mice airway epithelium (210). Furthermore, PGE₂ stimulates mucus secretion and expression of the mucin gene MUC5AC in human airway epithelial cells (211).

LTB₄ is a potent neutrophil chemoattractant that has been shown to be increased in the exhaled breath condensate of subjects with COPD, with further increases during exacerbations (207;212). Similarly, increased LTB₄ concentrations have been reported in plasma and induced sputum of these patients (213;214). The importance that LTB₄ plays in the development of COPD is not clear, but it has been found LTB₄ can regulate the recruitment of T-lymphocytes to inflamed tissues (215).

I.3.2.6. – Oxidative stress

There is increasing evidence that oxidative stress, which results from an oxidant/antioxidant imbalance, plays an important role in the injury and inflammatory processes in COPD (216). Activated inflammatory and structural cells from COPD lungs generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) (92). Superoxide anions (O_2^{-}) are produced by reduced nicotinamine adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase. O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 react in the presence of Fe⁺⁺ to

generate a hydroxyl radical (OH) (217). Macrophages from BAL fluid of smokers have increased intracellular iron concentrations and release it in greater quantities that those of nonsmokers (218;219). It is believed that cigarette smoke is the main contributor of iron, since each cigarette contains approximately 0.042µg of this metal (217). Due to its high reactivity, iron is usually bound to compounds like ferritin, but cigarette smoke causes iron release and this could contribute to the increased oxidative burden observed in the lungs of smokers (220). Furthermore, cigarette itself can contribute significantly to the presence of high levels of oxidants, because it contains ~10¹⁴ radicals per puff, as well as ~500ppm of nitric oxide (NO) (58;221). Additionally, cigarette smoke increases the activity of NO synthase and NO can react with O_2^- to produce peroxynitrates (217). BAL fluid of COPD patients contain increased levels of xanthine oxidase, a hydrolase that produces superoxide (222).

In the normal lung, levels of oxidants are counteracted by multiple endogenous antioxidant mechanisms (223). The three main pulmonary antioxidants are catalase, glutathione peroxidase, which inactivates H_2O_2 , and superoxide dismutase (SOD), which degrades O_2 .⁻ (217). Even though it is fairly accepted that cigarette smoke causes oxidative stress, its effect on antioxidant expression is yet not very clear. Taylor *et al.* found a deficiency in plasma antioxidant activity and this correlated with an abnormal mean FEV₁/FVC ratio (224). Erythrocytes from smokers have a decreased glutathione peroxidase activity and show greater tendency to peroxidize compared to those of nonsmokers (225). Similar results and an additional reduction is SOD activity were found by Jendryczko *et al.* in erythrocytes from children of smoking parents (226). There is a decrease in plasma levels of vitamin C, an extracellular antioxidant, in smokers and this correlates with the degree of lipid peroxidation (227). On the other hand, in smoke-exposed rats there is an increase of antioxidants, including SOD, catalase and glutathione peroxidase, but these increases are ineffective in protecting the lungs from the detrimental effects of cigarette smoke (228).

Measurements of biomarkers in COPD patients confirm the existence of oxidative stress and suggest a possible involvement of it in the pathogenesis of COPD. H_2O_2 levels are elevated in exhaled breath condensate of COPD patients, and they further increase during acute exacerbations (229). Increased levels of thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances (TBARS), a marker of lipid peroxidation, were also found (230). Moreover, Montuschi *et al.* showed that there is an increase in 8-isoprostane, a product of the peroxidation of arachidonic acid, in the exhaled breath condensate of COPD patients, and this was not dependent on smoking status (231). Malondialdehyde, another lipid peroxidation marker, was also increased in exhaled breath condensate of COPD patients compared to normal smokers (232).

Increased ROS in the lungs could have multiple important effects which may possibly contribute to the development of COPD. ROS, especially H_2O_2 , are known apoptotic inducers of epithelial and endothelial cells (22). Also, oxidation inactivates antiproteases, like α_1 -antitrypsin, and this may result in increased proteolysis (233). Oxidants induce mucus secretion in rodent airway epithelium,

suggesting a possible link between oxidative stress and mucus hypersecretion observed in COPD (234). More importantly, oxidative stress could amplify the inflammatory response in COPD by activating transcription factors such as NF- κ B and activator protein 1 (AP-1), which switch on the transcription of various inflammatory genes (92). Furthermore, Moodie *et al.* demonstrated that H₂O₂ enhances the acetylation of histone proteins and reduces histone deacetylase activity, leading to chromatin remodelling and increased transcription of inflammatory genes (235).

I.4. – Animal models for COPD

The use of animal models has had great impact on research and it has helped to expand our knowledge on many medical conditions. Gross *et al.* developed the first animal model of emphysema by inducing the disease via the instillation of papain into the lungs of rats (236). This model was one of the pillars upon which the protease/antiprotease hypothesis for COPD was developed. Since then different animals, including rats, dogs, monkeys, sheep, guinea pigs and especially mice, have been used in the study of COPD (237).

I.4.1. – Mouse model

The mouse offers unique advantages over other species when used as an animal model. There is a vast knowledge about mouse biology, as well as great availability of molecular probes to study this species. Furthermore, the mouse genome has been sequenced and it has great homology with the human genome. Moreover, knock-out and transgenic animals can be produced, permitting the study of specific genes. Additionally, the mouse has short reproductive cycles, large litter sizes and housing is relatively inexpensive, allowing researchers to have significant number of animals for experiments fairly easy. However, even though most biological processes are conserved within mammals, there are important differences between mice and humans (238). Mice are obligate nose breathers with no extensive cilia, no goblet cells and no respiratory bronchioles (239). Despite these differences, research using the mouse model can provide valuable data that can improve our understanding of pulmonary pathologies, such as COPD.

There are several inbred strains of mice that develop spontaneous airspace enlargement (240). The study of these strains could increase our knowledge about lung development, and processes of lung damage and repair, but they might not necessarily correlate to the pathophysiology of COPD. Emphysema has also been induced in mice by intrapulmonary instillation of proteinases and toxic chemicals, as well as by exposure to cigarette smoke. Finally, several transgenic and knock-out mice that develop emphysema have been produced (241).

Overexpression of human MMP-1 in the lungs of transgenic mice results in airspace enlargement (196). However, it is not clear if the emphysema-like phenotype observed in these animals is a result of a disruption of normal alveogenesis or breakdown of mature alveolar walls. Similarly, Hoyle *et al.* showed that overexpression of plateletderived growth factor B (PDGF-B) leads to airspace enlargement, but this is probably a consequence of an interference with normal lung development since this phenotype was not only observed in adults but also in neonatal mice (242). Transgenic mice with

increased pulmonary expression of other genes, including TNF- α , IL-11 and IL-6 have also been shown to have altered lung development (237).

Knock-out mice are produced in order to study the effects of the disruption of expression of specific genes. Wert *et al.* showed that ablation of the surfactant protein D (SP-D) leads to progressive pulmonary emphysema after 3 weeks of age, which was characterized by inflammation and increased MMP-12 and MMP-9 activities (243). Similarly, TIMP-3 null mice show spontaneous airspace enlargement after 2 weeks of age, with elevated MMP activity but no inflammatory response in the lungs (197). As with the transgenic cases, the emphysema seen in these two knock-out models is very likely to have resulted from developmental abnormalities.

In order to overcome the problem of abnormal lung development and to clarify the role of specific genes in the pathogenesis of emphysema, several groups have used induced transgenic expression. Zheng *et al.* showed that inducible expression of IL-13 leads to emphysema, accompanied with mucus metaplasia, inflammation and increased expression of various MMPs and cathepsins (145). In the same way, induced overexpression of IFN- γ in the lungs of transgenic mice causes airspace enlargement, with increased macrophage, neutrophil and lymphocyte numbers, as well as altered expression of proteases and antiproteases (146).

The most common way of inducing emphysema in mice is exposing the animals to exogenous agents, like tissue-degrading enzymes and cigarette smoke. Tracheal instillation of several proteases, including papain, human neutrophil elastase and porcine pancreatic elastase, lead to the development of emphysema in mice (244). Lucey *et al.* demonstrated that mice deficient in both TNF- α type 1 receptor and IL- β type 1 receptor

were protected from emphysema induced by porcine pancreatic elastase (135). Similarly, MMP-12 null mice do not develop macrophage infiltration after smoke exposure and are protected from emphysema (164). Shapiro *et al.* have shown that NE^{-/-} mice exposed to cigarette smoke have impared lung recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes and according to the authors the absence of this elastase provides significant protection (59%) against the development of emphysema (180).

It has been previously shown by Guerassimov et al. that smoke-induced emphysema is strain dependent in mice (24). This group selected five inbred strains of mice based on their major histocompatibility complex (MHC) haplotypes and chronically exposed the animals to cigarette smoke. The rationale behind the selection of the strains was that COPD has an autoimmune component and that differences in the ability of MHC molecules to present autoantigenic peptides to naïve cells is an important determinant of susceptibility to these kind of diseases (24;245). After exposing mice to two cigarettes per day five days a week for a period of six months, it was found that each of the five strains had dramatically different susceptibilities to the development of emphysema. Animals were phenotyped by measuring the lung mechanical properties, the inflammatory response (inflammatory cell counts and cytokine expression), and the mean linear intercept (Lm), which is an index of airspace. The authors classified the NZWLac/J strain as "resistant" because after chronic smoke exposure it does not develop an inflammatory response, and there are no changes in lung elastance or Lm. Furthermore, a down-regulation of a series of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including TNF- α , IL-10, MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β , is observed. On the other hand, the AKR/J strain ("supersusceptible") showed significant inflammatory cell infiltration of the lungs (Table 1.1),

	PMN %		AM %		CD8%		CD4%		gd % *	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
NZW										
NS*	12.77	3.76	1.15	0.76	1.68	1.39	4.7	1.47	0	0
S*	9.77	1.94	2.91	1.04	1.78	1.03	5.32	1.91	0.3	0.16
(t;p)	1.73	0.11	3.35	0.007	0.14	0.89	0.63	0.54	4.59	0.001
C57										
NS	4.95	2.18	7.14	3.4	1.9	0.95	3	1.59	0.4	0.66
S	5.76	2.27	3.14	2.54	0.62	0.19	2.1	0.72	0.11	0.09
(t;p)	0.63	0.54	2.31	0.04	3.24	0.009	1.26	0.24	1.07	0.31
AKR										
NS	7.66	3.34	1.84	0.85	1.9	0.76	1.98	0.9	0.07	0.16
S	13.47	2.54	9.27	2.49	3.1	1.3	3.98	1.35	0.63	0.28
(t ; p)	3.39	0.007	6.92	0.0004	1.95	0.05	3.02	0.01	4.26	0.002

Table 1.1 Cellular inflammatory response after chronic smoke exposure

Definition of Abbreviations: AM = alveolar macrophages; gd = gamma delta T-cells; p = statistical probability; PMN = polymorphonuclear cells; t = t statistic. * Percentage of inflammatory cells over total cells in the alveolar wall. Modified and adapted from Guerassimov *et al.* (2004) (24).

decreased lung elastance and enlargement of the airspaces. Moreover, 6 cytokines, including TNF- α , IL-12p35, IL-12p40, IL-10, MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β , showed a significant up-regulation after chronic smoke exposure. Interestingly, the C57BL/6J strain ("semi-susceptible") exhibited a small but significant airspace enlargement. However, the authors failed to observe an inflammatory response in the lungs of these mice and the lung mechanical properties were unaltered after 6 months of smoke exposure (Figure 1.3).

The importance of this study lies in the fact that it showed that mice have different susceptibilities to the development of the disease, just like humans. Further analysis of each strain would be helpful in identifying factors that could alter the susceptibility of individuals to emphysema. This thesis consists of a deeper analysis of one of the strains, the C57BL/6, with the main objective of identifying key candidate genes and their products that might be involved in the airspace enlargement, one of the landmarks of the pathogenesis of COPD, observed in this strain of mice.

Figure 1.3 Partial pressure-volume (PV) curves between 3- and 9-cm H_2O pressure. PV curves for the "resistant" (NZWLac/J), "semi-susceptible" (C57BL/6J), and "supersusceptible" (AKR/J) strains are shown. In addition, PV curves for the pallid strain are shown for comparison. PEEP = positive end-expiratory pressure. Reproduced from Guerassimov *et al.* (2004) (24).



Preface

The introduction described up-to-date information on the pathophysiology of COPD, as well as molecular mechanisms involved in the development of the disease that have been previously proposed. Nevertheless, our current understanding of COPD is still limited. The use of animal models has somehow resolved some of the problems encountered in human-based studies for complex diseases. Several mouse models for emphysema have been developed and our laboratory has previously shown that smoke-induced emphysema in mice is strain dependent. The C57BL/6 strain was classified as mildly susceptible because there is a small but significant increase of airspace after 6 months of smoke exposure. However, there was an absence of an inflammatory response in the lungs, as well as no change in lung mechanics. COPD represents a complex condition and the study of this strain allowed us to focus on one of the important phenotypes of the disease – airspace enlargement or emphysema. The following chapter presents a study that takes a closer look at the inflammatory kinetics of the disease. Furthermore, using microarray technology several candidate genes that could explain the complex phenotype of this mouse strain after smoke exposure were identified.

CHAPTER II.

TIME-COURSE INFLAMMATORY AND GENETIC PROFILING OF C57BL/6 MICE AFTER CHRONIC SMOKE EXPOSURE

based on manuscript to be submitted to Physiological Genomics Journal. Data presented orally at the American Thoracic Society International Conference

Cornejo Perales, S.M., Radzioch D. and M.G. Cosio

II.1. – Abstract

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) susceptibility depends on the interaction of several genes and it is characterized by several phenotypes including airspace enlargement or emphysema, changes in lung mechanics and inflammation. The most important factor for the development of COPD is cigarette smoke, but only 15-20% of smokers develop the disease, suggesting the existence of a genetic predisposition. Mice models are widely used in the study of smoking induced emphysema and data from our laboratory has shown that the development of this disease in cigarette smoke-exposed mice is strain dependent. The C57BL/6 strain of mice is commonly used as a model of smoke induced emphysema. This strain develops airspace enlargement after chronic smoke exposure (6 months), with no change in lung mechanics, rendering it suitable for studying the basis of alveolar enlargement induced by smoke that represents one of the important features of COPD. Microarray technology was used to compare the genetic expression profiles in lung tissue of mice (C57BL/6) chronically exposed (6 months) to

cigarette smoke, with age-paired controls. A series of genes involved in the activation, proliferation, maturation, as well as the migration of inflammatory cells were down-regulated, potentially explaining the absence of inflammation in the lungs of smoke-exposed C57BL/6 mice after 6 months of smoke exposure. In this study, we also investigated the changes in inflammatory cell populations and cytokine expression in the lung over time. An initial inflammatory response was observed, but it was completely suppressed by 2 months of smoke-exposure. Overall, these data provide clues explaining the mechanism of airspace enlargement in chronically smoke-exposed mice and the molecular basis explaining the absence of lung inflammation in this particular strain, even if the mice are chronically exposed to smoke, shedding light on which gene expression might be promoting emphysema and which genes might play a protective role in the development of the disease.

II.2. – Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a disease state characterized by airflow limitation that is not fully reversible and that is associated with an abnormal inflammatory response in the lungs to noxious particles and gases (1). COPD is a composite of conditions that includes bronchiolitis, emphysema, and chronic bronchitis (20). Even though it is widely accepted that the main risk factor for developing the disease is cigarette smoking, the cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in its pathogenesis are not fully understood. Moreover, only 15-20% of heavy smokers develop COPD, which suggests that genetic factors play a key role in the susceptibility to acquire the disease (21). In a study by Silverman *et al.*, it was found that the heritability of FEV₁

in subjects with severe early onset COPD was 35% (34). The only proven genetic risk factor for the development of COPD is α_1 -antitrypsin deficiency. However, this abnormality accounts for only 1-2% of all COPD cases (9). Therefore, it is very likely that there are other genes, which could act epistatically, and alter the susceptibility of individuals to the disease.

Although individual case-control studies have suggested that some candidate genes, like tumour necrosis factor α (TNF- α) or α -antichymotrypsin, might be associated with COPD, most of these findings were not corroborated in subsequent studies (40;47;48;246). The inconsistency in the results is probably due to differences in study populations, including the number of patients analyzed, and population stratification, like differences in race and age, between cases and controls (9).

Mice have been used successfully as animal models in an attempt to overcome some of the problems encountered in human-based studies. Emphysema has been previously studied in different strains of mice that develop spontaneous airspace enlargement or by the administration of exogenous agents, like proteinases or cigarette smoke (237). Some mouse strains exposed to cigarette smoke seem to develop low-grade chronic inflammation and lung destruction, similar to what is seen in humans and our laboratory has recently shown that smoke induced emphysema in mice is strain dependent (24;240). One of the strains analyzed was the C57BL/6, widely used as a model of cigarette-induced emphysema and in gene knock-out technology. This strain was classified as mildly susceptible because even though there was airspace enlargement, there was an absence of an inflammatory response in the lungs, as well as no change in lung mechanics after 6 months of smoke exposure (24). This semi-susceptible strain does not develop all the characteristics of "true emphysema" i.e. airspace enlargement with a pulmonary function abnormality (loss of elastic recoil) and lung inflammation, that the suceptibles pallid and AKR/J strains do. The study of the C57BL/6 response has the potential interest of allowing the investigation of factors predisposing to airspace enlargement without inflammation, while also investigating the possible mechanisms regulating the inflammatory response secondary to cigarette-smoke exposure.

The objectives of this paper were to study the progression of the inflammatory response following smoke-exposure in the C57BL/6 strain, and to identify possible candidate genes that could explain the complex phenotype of this strain after smoke exposure.

Our results suggest the importance of a genetic response which suppressing the inflammatory process, leads to the control of the disease, with mild increases in airspace in the C57BL/6, as compared to the full emphysema other more susceptible strains develop.

II.3. – Materials and Methods

II.3.1. – Animal treatment

Male C57BL/6 mice were purchased (Charles River Laboratories, St. Constant, PQ, Canada) at two months of age and kept in our animal facility for a month before starting their exposure to smoke. Mice were then exposed to the smoke of two standard research non-filtered cigarettes (2R1) per day, for five days a week, using a nose-only smoking apparatus (Cigarette Laboratory at the Tobacco and Health Research Institute,

University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY). The animals were divided into groups, which were smoke-exposed for different time periods (two days, one week, two months and six months) and their respective controls. After each period of treatment the animals were sacrificed, the lung was perfused and removed for analysis.

All experimental procedures were conducted in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care and with the approval of the Animal Care Committee (ACC) of McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada.

II.3.2. – Microarray experiment

A microarray was used to obtain the profile of mRNA expression in the lung of controls and mice exposed to 6 months of cigarette smoke. Total RNA was isolated from the whole right lung using TRIzol (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The quality of the RNA was assessed using electrophoresis in 2.2 M formaldehyde 2% agarose gel stained with ethidium bromide. The RNA samples were used for microarray only when they were of high quality and integrity.

Three mRNA samples from different mice were selected in each of the two experimental sets (C57BL/6 control, C57BL/6 smoke) and subjected to MG-U74Av2® microarray (Affymetrix Inc., Santa Clara, CA). Briefly, 20 µg of total RNA was reverse-transcribed into cDNA. The single-stranded cDNA was then converted into double-stranded cDNA with T4 DNA polymerase. After phenol/chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation, the cDNA was incubated with biotinylated UTP and CTP and T7 RNA polymerase to obtain biotin-labelled cRNA. The cRNA was treated with heat and Mg⁺⁺ to be fragmented. The fragmented cRNA was then hybridized to the array for 16

hours at 45°C. The array was washed and stained using the fluidics station and the image was scanned with a Hewlett Packard Gene Array scanner. The hybridization assays and data collection were performed at the McGill University and Genome Quebec Innovation Centre (Montreal, QC) and analyzed using Microarray Suite 5.0® (Affymetrix Inc., Santa Clara, CA) according to the instructions provided by the company.

II.3.3. - Gene expression analysis

The gene expression pattern of 6 arrays was compared by hierarchical clustering. Cluster analysis was performed for 111 genes that met the criteria using CLUSFAVOR (CLUSter and Factor Analysis with Varimax Orthogonal Rotation) (http://condor.bcm.tmc.edu/genepi/clusfavor.html) with the centroid method (247). Distance between the arrays was measured as Euclidean distance.

The gene expressions in the 3 chips in each set of mice were compared by ANOVA using Kensington Discovery Edition® (InforSense Ltd., London, United Kingdom). Gene expressions were considered to be significantly different when 1) ANOVA and following post-hoc tests in 6 chips gave a p-value less than 0.05 2) when comparing two sets, more than two arrays had "present" call values in either set, and 3) there was more than a 50% difference between the two sets.

In order to confirm the ANOVA analysis we performed an alternative analysis of the Affymetrix package using the RMA processing method suggested by Bioconductor (software project for analysis of genomic data: www.bioconductor.org). With this method "perfect match" probe intensities are corrected by using a global model for the distribution of probe intensities. All the genes were then statistically analyzed by a

nonparametric permutation procedure for 2 samples. Each pair wise comparisons of the 2 experimental groups were done using 3 chips per group. A significance value of 0.05 was obtained only when there was no overlap in the values between each of the two groups being compared. We found a coincidence of 85.47% between the 2 methods, a result that validates the use of the ANOVA method for the interpretation of the results.

The array data of the two experimental sets (C57BL/6 control and C57BL/6 smoke) were then compared according to gene ontology (GO). Gene ontology analysis was carried out using GENMAPP~MAPPFinder (http://www.genmapp.org/) in all 12488 genes (248). GO terms were considered to be significantly changed if 1) more than 2 genes changed in each group, and 2) the Z score was larger than 2.

II.3.4. - Validation of gene expression analysis using real-time polymerase chain reaction

The mRNA expressions were also quantified using the real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT)-PCR method. Four genes whose expressions were changed by smoke in the microarray experiments were selected. Primers were designed for those selected genes (Table 2.3). Total RNA was treated with DNase I and reverse transcribed into cDNA using the DNA-free kit (Ambion Inc., Austin, TX). The cDNA was amplified in the MX4000 system (Stratagene) using the brilliant SYBR Green QPCR kit (Stratagene, Cedar Creek, TX) according to the manufacture's instruction. The amount of cDNA was calculated based on the threshold cycle (C_T) value and standardized by the amount of the house-keeping gene using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta C}$ _T method:

$\Delta\Delta C_{\rm T} = (C_{\rm T,Target} - C, _{\rm GAPDH})_{\rm Time \, x} - (C_{\rm T,Target} - C, _{\rm GAPDH})_{\rm Time \, 0}$

where the "target" represents the gene of interest tested, as previously described (249). Each gene expression was standardized by the expression of a house-keeping gene, glyceraldehydes-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH). The melting curve and agarose gel electrophoresis analyses, was performed to confirm that a single product of expected length was amplified.

II.3.5. – Bronchoalveolar lavage

Mice were sacrificed twenty four hours after smoke exposure by pentobarbital overdose. The heart was perfused in an attempt to eliminate all cells in the lung vasculature and a 20-gauge catheter inserted in the trachea. The lung was lavaged 3 times with 1ml of ice-cold saline and the saline lavage was centrifuged at 1200 rpm at 4°C for 10 minutes. The supernatants were decanted and the cell pellets were resuspended in 100µl of cold saline. 10µl of the cell suspension were mixed with 90µl of Trypan blue and total cell counts were done using a hemacytometer. Cytospins were done with 100µl of bronchoalveolar lavage. Slides were air-dried and fixed in acetone-methanol and stained with hematoxylin and eosin for differential cell counts.

II.3.6. – Ribonuclease protection analysis of lung gene expression

Total RNA was isolated using a total RNA isolation reagent (TRIZOL®) and mRNA expression of cytokines (TNF- α , IL-12p35, IL-12p40, IL-10, MIP-1 β , MIP-1 α , MIP-2, IP-10, IL-6, and IFN- γ) as well as two housekeeping genes (GAPDH and L32) was measured using a Multi-Probe RNase Protection Assay System (BD Biosciences

Pharmingen, San Diego, CA). Briefly, following overnight hybridization of multiprobe to target mRNA (20µg) in solution, free probe and single-stranded RNA were digested by RNase treatment. Protected probes were then purified and resolved by electrophoresis on a 5% acrylamide gel. Detection was done by autoradiography and optical densities of mRNA bands were quantified with ImagePro Plus software (Media Cybernetics Inc.). Signals were normalized to the housekeeping gene GAPDH as a loading control. All values are expressed in arbitrary units.

II.4. - Results

II.4.1. - Lung morphology after chronic smoke exposure

Analysis of the lung morphology of the C57BL/6 strain showed obvious airspace enlargement after 6 months of smoke exposure (Figure 2.1).

II.4.2. – Genes differentially expressed between control and smoke-exposed C57BL/6 mice

Tables 2.1 and 2.2 summarize the set of candidate genes that were significantly different between control and smoke-exposed mice. The list of genes was generated on microarray data from lung mRNA of C57BL/6 mice that were analyzed by Affymetrix Analysis Microarray Suite MAS 5 software and confirmed by a nonparametric permutation comparison. A total of 111 genes were differentially expressed after smoke exposure; 77 genes were down-regulated in the smoke-exposed mice compared to the control mice and 34 were up-regulated. Figure 2.2 shows the results of two-way hierarchical clustering. The control (CTR) and smoke-exposed (SE) samples are properly arranged by the algorithm.

Figure 2.1 Lung morphology after smoke exposure. Lung photomicrographs (X250) of control and smoking mice after 6 months of exposure. CTR = control; SE = smoke exposed.



CTR

SE

	Fold	Р	Affymetrix
Over-expressed Genes in SE	difference	value *	probe [†]
Mesothelin (Msln)	2.85	2.50E-02	102953 at
Uroplakin 3B (Upk3b)	2.83	1.75E-02	104512 [_] at
Resistin (Retn)	2.69	1.40E-02	102366 ⁻ at
Guanosine diphosphate (GDP) Dissociation			_
inhibitor 2 (Gdi2)	2.60	4.55E-02	94642 at
Solute carrier family 16 (monocarboxylic			_
acid transporters), member 1 (Slc16a1)	2.55	1.63E-02	101588 at
Adipsin (And)	2.38	4.18E-02	99671 at
Basonuclin 1 (Bnc1)	2.29	1.87E-02	93371 ⁻ at
Desmocollin 2 (Dsc2)	2.28	2.86E-02	103506 ⁻ f at
Secreted modular calcium binding protein 2			
(Smoc2)	1.94	2.73E-02	96926 at
Annexin A2 (Anxa2)	1.86	1.65E-02	100566 at
Inter alpha-trypsin inhibitor, heavy chain 4			
(Itih4)	1.83	2.37E-03	98467 at
Clusterin (Clu)	1.82	7.34E-04	161294 f at
Histocompatibility 2, Q region locus 1			
(H2Q1)	1.76	2.84E-02	92222 f at
Prion protein (Prnp)	1.74	2.32E-02	100606 at
DnaJ (Hsp40) homolog, subfamily B,			_
member 3 (Dnajb3)	1.74	3.36E-04	97480 f at
Bleomycin hydrolase (Blmh)	1.71	1.95E-02	162221 i at
Scm-like with four mbt domains 2 (Sfmbt2)	1.70	4.43E-02	100706 f at
Wilms tumor homolog (Wt1)	1.69	2.36E-02	93856 at
Cathepsin K (Ctsk)	1.67	5.12E-03	160406_at
Chitinase 3-like 3 (Chi3l3)	1.64	4.84E-03	92694_at
REST corepressor 1 (Rcor1)	1.64	2.61E-02	161471_f_at
Immediate early response 3 (Ier3)	1.62	3.16E-02	161281_f_at
P450 (cytochrome) oxidoreductase (Por)	1.61	8.27E-03	161668 f at
Hairy and enhancer of split 1, (Drosophila)			
(Hes1)	1.58	4.14E-02	160887 at
Phospholipase D3 (Pld3)	1.57	1.19E-02	100607 ⁻ at
Protease, serine, 12 neurotrypsin,			—
(motopsin) (Prss12)	1.56	4.18E-02	93953_at
Growth arrest specific 1 (Gas1)	1.56	8.08E-03	94813_at
Karyopherin (importin) beta 3 (Kpnb3)	1.53	1.27E-03	161757_f_at
Transcription factor 23 (Tcf23)	1.53	2.43E-03	162332 f at
Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme 8 (Ube216)	1.52	1.71E-02	98597 at
Zinc finger protein 289 (Zfp289)	1.52	1.38E-02	99644_at
Protease, serine, 12 neurotrypsin, (motopsin) (Prss12) Growth arrest specific 1 (Gas1) Karyopherin (importin) beta 3 (Kpnb3) Transcription factor 23 (Tcf23) Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme 8 (Ube2l6) Zinc finger protein 289 (Zfp289)	1.56 1.56 1.53 1.53 1.52 1.52	4.18E-02 8.08E-03 1.27E-03 2.43E-03 1.71E-02 1.38E-02	93953_at 94813_at 161757_f_at 162332_f_at 98597_at 99644_at

Table 2.1 Genes differentially expressed between smoke-exposed and age-matched controlC57BL/6 mice

Under-expressed Genes in SE

Under-expressed Genes in SE			
Zinc finger protein 503 (Zfp503)	4.73	8.93E-03	161741_r_at
Matrix metalloproteinase 9 (Mmp9)	4.58	3.13E-02	99957_at
S100 calcium binding protein A9			
(calgranulin B)	4.35	3.80E-02	103887 at
S100 calcium binding protein A8			
(calgranulin A)	3.76	4.01E-02	103448 at
Integrin alpha M (Itgam)	3.15	3.03E-02	98828 at
Vesicle-associated membrane protein,			—
associated protein A (33 kDa) (Vapa)	2.88	4.78E-02	161516 r at
Phospholipase A2 group VII (platelet-			— —
activating factor acetylhydrolase,			
plasma) (Pla2g7)	2.82	4.75E-02	101923 at
			-
Myocyte enhancer factor 2A (Mef2a)	2.71	2.37E-04	94133_r_at
Shugoshin-like 2 (S. pombe) (Sgol2)	2.16	1.74E-02	95369_at
Selectin, lymphocyte (Sell)	2.08	3.95E-02	102838_at
Protein tyrosine phosphatase, receptor			101298_g_at
Type, C (Ptprc)	2.08	2.77E-02	(2)
G-protein coupled receptor 25 (Gpr65)	2.07	4.84E-02	96553_at
B-cell linker (Blnk)	2.06	3.85E-03	100772 <u>g</u> at
Immunoglobulin heavy chain 6 (heavy			
Chain of IgM) (Igh6)	2.05	4.51E-05	92740_at (4)
Sialophorin (Spn)	2.04	1.64E-02	99436_at
Mitochondrial ribosomal protein L46			
(Mrpl46)	2.01	6.13E-03	104567_at
Secreted phosphoprotein 1 (Spp1)	1.94	2.98E-02	97519_at
Proline-serine-threonine phosphatase-			
interacting protein 1 (Pstpip1)	1.90	1.81E-03	103946_at
Formin-like (Fmnl1)	1.89	1.89E-03	92483 <u>g</u> at
Spi-B transcription factor (Spi-1/PU.1			
related) (Spib)	1.88	4.95E-03	93657_at
Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase			
kinase 6 (Map3k6)	1.88	1.52E-02	92276_at
Pre-B lymphocyte gene 3 (Vpreb3)	1.87	1.16E-02	93957_at
Neutrophil cytosolic factor 4 (Ncf4)	1.87	1.89E-02	103662_at
T-complex-associated testis expressed 2			
(Tcte2)	1.87	1.84E-02	103541_at
UDP-glucose ceramide glucosyltransferase			
(Ugcg)	1.86	1.81E-03	94197_at
Solute carrier family 11 (proton-coupled			
divalent metal ion transporters), member			
1 (Slc11a1)	1.86	2.67E-02	96562_at
CD72 antigen (Cd72)	1.84	6.62E-03	101878 [–] at
AT rich interactive domain 3A (Bright like)			
(Arid3a)	1.84	3.90E-02	103496 at
			—

Complement factor H-related protein (Cfh)	1.83	9.32E-03	94993_f_at
D amounta appropriated protoin 1			
D-asparate-associated protein 1	1 02	0.275.02	00160 a at
(glutamate binding) (Grina)	1.82	9.37E-03	99100_s_at
Memorane-spanning 4-domains, sublamily	1 0 1	5 77E 02	00116 at
A, member 2 (MIS4a2)	1.01	3.77E-03	99440_al
activated channel, subfamily M, alpha			
member 1 (Kcnma1)	1.81	2.96E-02	97759_at
Chemokine (C-X-C) receptor 4 (Cxcr4)	1.80	4.82E-02	102794_at
Polypyrimidine tract binding protein 2			
(Ptbp2)	1.79	3.65E-02	160374_r_at
Dedicator of cyto-kinesis 2 (Dock2)	1.79	3.91E-03	103462_at
Integrin beta 2-like (Itgb2l)	1.79	2.88E-02	94171_at
Killer cell lectin-like receptor subfamily			
A, member 13 (Klra12)	1.79	4.01E-02	100387_f_at
Homeo box D1 (Hoxd1)	1.79	3.09E-02	98820 g at
RAS-related C3 botulinum substrate 2			_0_
(Rac2)	1.76	4.23E-02	103579 at
Endothelial PAS domain protein 1 (Enas1)	1 75	3.07E-02	102698_at
Repetin (Rptn)	1.75	6 35E-03	94732 at
Immune alabulin associated almba (Cd70a)	1 72	4.09E 02	102778 at
BOUL domain class 2 associating factor 1	1.75	4.98E-03	102778_at
(Pow2afl)	1 70	5 27E 03	03015 at
(Fouzarr)	1.70	1.20E.02	93915_at
Paired box gene o (paxo)	1.70	1.39E-02	92271_at
Intracistemal A particles	1.08	1.52E-02	93909 <u>1</u> at
Period homolog (Drosophila) (Peri)	1.67	2.61E-02	93619_at
Interferon inducible GIPase I (ligp1)	1.65	2.98E-02	103963_1_at
l'umor necrosis factor receptor superfamily,	1.65	1.0(1).02	101504
member 26 (1nfrsf26)	1.65	1.86E-03	101524_at
Guanylate cyclase 1, soluble, beta 3	1 (4	1.565.00	02054
(Gucy1b3)	1.64	1.56E-02	93954_at
Integrin alpha 8 (Itga8)	1.63	1.24E-04	100313_at
Serine (or cysteine) proteinase inhibitor,	1 (2	1 200 02	100000
Clade B, member 6c (Serpinb6c)	1.62	1.30E-02	103306_at
Serine protease inhibitor 13	1.62	5.74E-03	161115_r_at
Ring finger protein 125 (Rnf125)	1.60	3.59E-02	99823_r_at
Trefoil factor 1 (Tff1)	1.60	1.78E-03	160300_at
Visinin-like 1 (Vsnl1)	1.59	2.95E-02	92995_at
CD19 antigen (Cd19)	1.59	1.33E-04	99945_at
Interferon, alpha-inducible protein (G1p2)	1.57	3.91E-02	161511_f_at
Paired-Ig-like receptor B (Pira6)	1.57	3.80E-02	98003_at
Serine/threonine kinase 3 (Ste20, yeast			00555
homolog) (Stk3)	1.55	4.47E-02	98775_at
Importin 4 (Ipo4)	1.54	2.92E-02	161250_at

Vitronectin (Vtn)	1.52	2.69E-02	98549_at
ARP1 actin-related protein 1 homolog A			
(yeast) (Actrla)	1.52	1.32E-02	97714_r_at
Immunoglobulin-associated beta (Cd79b)	1.52	6.22E-04	161012_at
Cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase, Dscr28C			
related (Drosophila) (Tec)	1.52	2.55E-02	103539_at
Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase 2			
(G6pd2)	1.52	1.19E-03	101294 <u>g</u> at
Zinc finger protein, subfamily 1A, 1			
(Ikaros) (Znfn1a1)	1.52	1.09E-02	102293_at
Coagulation factor II (thrombin) receptor			
(F2r)	1.52	2.39E-02	92267_at
Growth associated protein 43 (Gap43)	1.51	3.00E-02	102389_s_at
Signal sequence receptor, gamma (Ssr3)	1.51	3.57E-02	104249_g_at

Definition of Abbreviations: SE = smoke exposed mice * Statistically significant at p<0.05 † In parentheses: total number of probes for that gene differentially expressed between SE and C C57BL/6 mice; the probe with the highest fold difference is presented in the table

Table 2.2 Genes without known-functions differentially expressed between smoke-exposed and age-matched control C57BL/6 mice

	Fold	Р	Affymetrix
Over-expressed Genes in SE	difference	value *	probe
expressed sequence C81072	1.99	9.33E-03	96487 at
RIKEN cDNA 2510029B14 gene	1.58	3.12E-02	93551_at
RIKEN cDNA 4930467B06 gene	1.51	1.06E-03	103663_at
Under-expressed Genes in SE			
"ESTs, Moderately similar to LY6A MOUSE			
LYMPHOCYTE ANTIGEN LY-6A.2/LY-			
6E.1 PRECURSOR [M.musculus]"	3.81	3.96E-02	101820 at
"ESTs, Weakly similar to S26689			
hypothetical protein hc1 - mouse			
[M.musculus]"	2.29	9.52E-03	95890 r at
"DNA segment, Chr 7, ERATO Doi 183,			
expressed"	1.75	1.57E-04	95872 at
expressed sequence C80816	1.71	2.84E-02	104256 at
RIKEN cDNA 1300007C21 gene	1.61	3.96E-04	103562 f at
expressed sequence AW108224	1.58	3.66E-06	160173_at
ESTs	1.54	4.81E-02	93204_r_at
RIKEN cDNA 1300007C21 gene	1.52	4.93E-03	160799_at

Definition of Abbreviations: SE = smoke exposed mice * Statistically significant at p<0.05

Figure 2.2 Cluster analysis of microarray experiments in controls (CTR) and smoke-exposed (SMOKE) mice. Differentially expressed genes were selected and subjected to cluster analysis. Each column represents the gene expression of one mouse. Data in the same row represent that of the same gene. All the controls and smoke-exposed mice are grouped together.


II.4.3. - Validation of gene expression differences found by microarray data

In order to validate the microarray data, the expression of 4 candidate genes were analyzed using quantitative real-time-RT-PCR as described in the Materials and Methods section. Table 2.3 lists the primer sequences for the selected candidate genes. MMP-9 was selected because of its known importance in human COPD. S100a8 and Msln genes were selected because of their previously reported role in the inflammatory process and potential role in the development of emphysema. Finally, Epas1 has been shown to be involved in the regulation of antioxidant enzymes, a process believed to be crucial in the response to reactive oxygen species present in cigarette smoke. Figure 2.3 shows the fold change from controls according to real-time-RT-PCR and microarray data. As it can be seen in this figure, changes observed by the microarray were confirmed by the real-time-RT-PCR.

 Table 2.3 Primer sequences for the validation of selected candidate genes

Gene Name	Sense	Anti-sense		
Mmp-9	5'-TTCTTCTCTGGACGTCAAAT-3'	5'-CCTAGACCCAACTTATCCAG-3'		
S100a8	5'-CCATGCCCTCTACAAGAATGAC-3'	5'-CTACTCCTTGTGGCTGTCTTTG-3'		
Epas-1	5'-CTCCTGTCCTCAGTCTGCTCTG-3'	5'-CACCACAGCAATGAAACCCTCC-3'		
Msln	5'ACGGGATGCAGAACAGAAAGCC-3'	5'-TGGTGCCATCTACACAAGCCTC-3'		

Figure 2.3 Validation of the difference in mRNA expression between control and smoke-exposed mice for selected genes. Lung mRNA abundance was determined by quantitative real-time-RT-PCR. Fold change difference in lung gene expression between smoke-exposed mice compared to age-matched controls according to real-time-RT-PCR (black bars) and microarray (grey bars) are shown.



II.4.4. – Gene ontology classification

The GENMAPP and MAPPFinder softwares were used in our microarray data in order to classify genes according to gene ontology (GO). This analysis enables us to identify which specific processes might be important in the lung disease phenotype. The software separates the genes into three main categories (Biological Processes, Molecular Function and Cellular component), which are further divided into sub-classes. Figure 2.4 shows the functions that were significantly affected by the exposure to cigarette smoke in C57BL/6 mice. Significance was obtained as explained in the Materials and Methods section.

Most genes differentially expressed between control and smoke-exposed mice fell into the biological processes category. According to our analysis, 28 biological processes categories were significantly affected and they are illustrated on Figure 2.4, panel A. We found 23 genes in the response to external stimulus and 17 genes show to be important in the defence response. Interestingly, we found 7 genes shown to be involved in the regulation of immune response, regulating lymphocyte activation, proliferation, antigen processing and immune cell chemotaxis. Nine genes involved in the response to stress, 3 in cell migration and 2 in complement activation were also identified.

The molecular function category includes genes, whose products regulate cell function at the molecular level, like catalysis or ligand binding. In this category, 8 functions were significantly changed (Figure 2.4, panel B). Two of the identified gene products seem to play important role in antigen binding and five of them are proteins involved in host defence against pathogens and immunity. Two identified Figure 2.4 Gene ontology-based analysis; effect of cigarette smoke on the gene expression in the lungs of mice. Panels show significantly changed functions (≥ 2 genes changed in each group and Z score ≥ 2) in each category: Biological Process (A), Molecular Function (B), and Cellular Component (C).

A. Biological Process







C. Cellular Component



genes encode proteins with complement activities and four others encode cell adhesion molecules.

As shown in Figure 2.4, panel C, the cellular component includes genes whose products constitute structural cell components and macromolecular complexes. We have identified fifteen genes differentially expressed between control and smoke-exposed mice that encode proteins localized in the plasma membrane, including two that constitute part of the B-cell receptor complex.

II.4.5. – Inflammatory response

Table 2.4 shows the inflammatory response in the lung of C57BL/6 mice after 2, 7 and 60 days of exposure to cigarette smoke. Our data show that, as soon as 2 days following smoke exposure, a clear inflammatory response develops in the lungs, with a significant increase in the amount of polymorphonuclear cells (p < 0.0001), alveolar macrophages (p = 0.001), as well as lymphocytes (p = 0.016) as compared to non-exposed to smoke controls. By day 7, most of the increase in the amount of inflammatory cells diminishes. At day 7 only alveolar macrophage numbers were still augmented in smoke-exposed mice compared to controls (p = 0.004). After 2 months of exposure to smoke, we found no signs of an inflammatory response in the smoke-induced lungs in C57BL/6 mice.

·	PMN		AM		Lymphocytes	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
0 day control	0.05	0.004	2.93	1.24	0.15	0.01
2 days	0.15	0.005 *	18.50	3.08 *	0.28	0.05 *
7 days	0.02	0.020	15.72	3.59 *	0.06	0.07
60 days	0.02	0.003	4.45	2.96	0.04	0.03

Table 2.4 Number of inflammatory cells in units in bronchoalveolar lavage $(x10^4/ml)$ at four different time points after smoke exposure

Definition of Abbreviations: AM = alveolar macrophages; PMN = polymorphonuclear cells. * Statistically significant at p < 0.05, compared with controls

II.4.6. – Cytokine expression

The kinetic analysis of gene expression in lungs from C57BL/6 mice exposed to smoke for various periods of time (0, 7, 60, 180 days) and their controls is seen in Figure 2.5. We analyzed 10 different inflammation-associated genes by using a multi-probe RNase protection assay system and we found a significant increase in TNF- α (p = 0.02), MIP-1 α (p = 0.001) and MIP-1 β (p = 0.013) mRNA expression in smoke-exposed mice compared to controls at 2 months post-initial exposure, but not at earlier time points. After 6 months of smoke-exposure all cytokine mRNA levels (TNF- α , MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , IL-12p35, IL-12p40, IL-10, MIP-2, IP-10, IL-6) did not differ significantly from controls. Figure 2.5 Comparison of relative abundance of cytokine mRNA over time between controls (open bars) and smoke exposed mice (solid bars) as measured by RNase protection assay. Control animals were analysed at 0, 60, and 180 days after beginning of experiment. Experimental mice were analysed at 7, 60 and 180 days after beginning of smoke exposure. MIP = macrophage inflammatory protein; TNF-a = tumour necrosis factor α . Values are means \pm SE. * Statistical significant at p < 0.05, compared with controls.











II.5. - Discussion

After 6 months of smoke-exposure, the C57BL/6 strain develops airspace enlargement (Figure 2.1) with a \sim 15% increase in the mean linear intercept, but without any changes in lung mechanics (24;250). The genetic response to smoke-exposure showed a predominant suppression of a variety of genes, mainly inflammatory genes. Of interest, the cellular and molecular inflammatory response appears to be suppressed after 2 months of exposure, in concordance with the genetic response.

As indicated by the ontologies affected, smoke-exposure had an important effect in the lungs of these animals (Figure 2.4) and the majority of the ontologies were related to the response to external and biotic stimulus and defence and immune responses, both cellular and humoral, including complement. Cell communication, mobility, adhesion, and integrin signalling were the other groups of functions highly represented in the response to smoke. Thirty six percent of the biological and molecular functions were defence/immune and 21% were related to cellular activity.

By using microarray technology we were able to identify genes whose expression were altered in response to six months of exposure to cigarette smoke. Tables 2.1 and 2.2 show the 111 genes that were differentially expressed between controls and smokeexposed mice. Analysis of these genes showed that 69% (77 genes) were down-regulated, while 31% were up-regulated relative to the control animals, a somehow surprising finding. Forty percent of the genes had inflammatory/immune functions both humoral and cellular, and 81% of these genes were down-regulated after smoke-exposure, thus suppressing the inflammatory response, as it can be seen by out analysis of the inflammatory cells and mediators. Genes controlling inflammatory functions including factors like PAF, complements, neutrophils, macrophages, dendritic cells, B-cells, T-cells, and antigen presentation were mostly down-regulated by smoke-exposure.

Some of the genes affected by smoking deserve special attention. S100a8 (calgranulin A) and S100a9 (calgranulin B) were two of the genes that were most significantly down-regulated. The products of these two genes are known to form a complex called calprotectin, which is believed to play a regulatory role in inflammatory processes by exerting an effect on the survival and/or growth of cells involved in inflammation (251). The production of calprotectin has not only been detected in neutrophils and macrophages but also in epithelial cells (252). A large number of inflammatory states, like Crohn's disease, cystic fibrosis and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, are characterized by increased level of calprotectin in the blood (253-255).

Secreted phosphoprotein 1 or osteopontin (Spp1) was another of the genes downregulated. Recent studies suggest that Spp1 regulates basic intracellular mechanisms necessary for the migration of macrophages to inflammatory sites (256). Moreover, it is believed to play a role in lung pathologies, as it was found to have increased expression in fibrotic lungs compared to controls (257). Recently, Woodruff *et al.* found that Spp1 was highly induced in macrophages of smokers and that its increased expression correlated with lung function impairment (258). More interestingly, it has been shown by *in vitro* studies, that Spp1 has the ability to enhance the production of MMP-1, MMP-2, and MMP-9 in smooth muscle and tumour cell lines, possibly linking the downregulation in Spp1 with the observed decreased expression of matrix metalloproteinases in our study (259;260).

Genes controlling integrins and cell adhesion were mostly down-regulated by smoke-exposure. Of special interest is the down-regulation of L-selectin, which is known to be involved in the migration of cytotoxic T-cells into inflamed tissues (261). Moreover, Hamaguchi *et al.* have shown that L-selectin plays a critical role in pulmonary fibrosis by mediating the accumulation of leukocytes, which regulate the production of proinflammatory cytokines (262).

Besides lung inflammation, proteinases-mediated lung injury is considered an important mechanism of emphysema production. Over the past years, evidence of the possible involvement of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in COPD has increased exponentially (263). Increased levels of MMP-1, MMP-8, and MMP-9 have been reported in sputum from COPD patients (264). Moreover, Ohnishi et al. have reported increased elastolytic activity of MMP-9 in the lung parenchyma of patients with emphysema (201). However, the role of MMP-9 in the development of emphysema by cigarette smoke has been controversial in mice. MMP-9^{-/-} mice are not protected from cigarette smoke induced emphysema, whereas MMP12^{-/-} are (164;265). Interestingly, based on the results generated using our microarray analysis, MMP-9 was one of the genes most significantly down-regulated in response to cigarette smoke in the C57BL/6 mice. It is possible that the lower expression of this matrix metalloproteinase might be associated with the lesser airspace enlargement that develops after six months of smokeexposure in this strain in comparison to other more susceptible strains. On the other hand, 2 other proteinases, a serine proteinase Prss12 and cathepsin K (Ctsk) were up-regulated after smoke exposure. Neurotrypsin (Prss12) is a trypsin-like proteinase associated with brain function and although it is produced in the lung and bone marrow, has never been

associated with any lung pathology. Cathepsin K, the most potent mammalian elastase, is a lysosomal cysteine proteinase found in monocytes and fibroblasts, and might play an important role in the remodelling of fibrous tissue in the lung (205). Ctsk^{-/-} mice exposed to bleomycin develop more fibrosis that wild-type controls, suggesting the potential role in collagen destruction by this cathepsin (266). However, the role of this proteinase in emphysema has not been described.

The dramatic inhibition of a large number of genes playing important roles in the regulation of immune and inflammatory processes in the smoke-exposed mice is in agreement with our previous findings. This strain, as well as the NZWLac/J strain, shows a wide down-regulation of inflammatory genes and does not develop an inflammatory reaction after 6 months of smoke-exposure (24;250). Inflammation is a significant component of human COPD, and the study of the regulation of this process could be of importance to understand the kinetics of the disease.

The significance of the down-regulation of a variety of inflammatory and transduction genes is validated by the paucity of the inflammatory cells and mediators' response after chronic smoke-exposure. As shown in Table 2.1, an acute inflammatory response, composed of macrophages, neutrophils and lymphocytes, developed in C57BL/6 mice after 2 days of cigarette smoke exposure. However, after 1 week of treatment only macrophages were increased in BAL. Furthermore, after 2 and 6 months of daily exposure to smoke, inflammation in the lungs was not detectable in BAL or lung parenchyma (24;250).

We also investigated the kinetics of the expression of inflammatory cytokines after smoke exposure. After one week of smoke-exposure the expression of all tested cytokines (TNF- α , IL-12p35, IL-12p40, IL-10, MIP-1 β , MIP-1 α , MIP-2, IP-10, IL-6, and IFN- γ) were at control levels but at 2 months of exposure a significant increase in TNF- α , MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β could be observed. However, after 6 months of daily smoke exposure, there was no difference in the expression of all the tested cytokines between control and smoke-exposed mice, further confirming our microchip data, since these genes were not seen differentially expressed by this method either.

Our data suggests that in the C57BL/6 mouse strain, protective mechanisms are turned on to abort the inflammatory response to cigarette smoke, which prevents the development of severe lung damage observed in susceptible strains, such as AKR/J.

In contrast to the C57BL/6, after 6 months of smoke-exposure, the "supersusceptible" AKR/J strain developed "true emphysema", airspace enlargement with decreased elastic recoil and a large inflammatory response comprised of macrophages, polymorphonuclear cells and lymphocytes (24). Furthermore, an increased expression of inflammatory cytokines, including MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , and TNF- α , along with an important genetic pro-inflammatory response was observed. On the other hand, the 'resistant' NZWLac/J strain showed no airspace enlargement and minimal inflammatory reaction after chronic smoke-exposure, with a significant decrease of the same cytokines, and like the C57BL/6, an important genetic response directed toward the suppression of inflammation.

However, in spite of lack of pronounced inflammation, the C57BL/6 strain develops a significant airspace enlargement, ~15% compared to 38% in the "super-susceptible" AKR/J, and without any major changes in the lung architecture (24;250). Takubo *et al.* clearly showed the differences in the pattern of airspace enlargement

developed after smoke exposure by the C57BL/6 in comparison with the pallid strain, which develop emphysema along with inflammation and changes of recoil (250).

In summary, the development of airspace enlargement and emphysema after smoke exposure in mice seems to be a complexed multifactorial process in which oxidative stress, proteinases, apoptosis and an inflammatory reaction may play important roles. In our animal models (NZWLac/J, AKR/J and C57BL6), the outcome to cigarette smoke exposure is most likely genetically determined. Perhaps in the C57BL/6 the airspace enlargement, possibly induced by oxidative stress and proteinases at the early stages of smoke-exposure, does not progress to more severe alveolar breakdown with losses of recoil (emphysema), as seen in the AKR/J, because of the lack of an important inflammatory response.

CHAPTER III.

III.1. – General discussion and conclusions

It is widely accepted that the main environmental determinant of COPD is cigarette smoking. However, only a minor percentage of heavy smokers develop the disease, suggesting that other factors are important in determining which smokers are at risk. Familial clustering studies have provided strong evidence about the involvement of genes in affecting pulmonary function as well as in the development of COPD (25;26). Our laboratory has developed a mouse model for cigarette smoke-induced emphysema, in an attempt to better understand the basis for the susceptibility and/or resistance to the development of this disease.

As it has been previously mentioned, the C57BL/6 is a mouse strain that develops airspace enlargement after 6 months of smoke-exposure. However, the morphological change in the lung of these mice is not accompanied by an inflammatory response and altered lung mechanics. Gene expression analysis suggest that after smoke exposure this strain down-regulates a series of inflammatory genes, which probably prevents a major inflammatory response and inhibits the more severe and functionally evident lung damage observed in other more susceptible strains. As mentioned in Chapter II, the data showed down-regulation of genes shown to be important in inflammatory processes like the calgranulins A and B, osteopontin and L-selectin, after 6 months of smoke exposure. The identification of these genes is important, because their regulation could be central to inhibit the major inflammation necessary to develop the full disease. A closer study of these candidate genes and their regulation could elucidate their involvement in the development of emphysema.

Inflammation is a crucial and complex component of COPD, therefore the kinetics of the inflammatory process over time was studied in the C57BL/6 mouse strain. Interestingly, an initial inflammatory response develops in the lungs of these mice after 2 days of smoke exposure but it is rapidly controlled and by day 7 only alveolar macrophages are still elevated in BAL of smoke-exposed mice (Table 2.4). Furthermore, no signs of an inflammatory response in BAL of C57BL/6 mice are detected after 2 months of exposure to smoke. Similarly, after 6 months of smoke exposure, no difference in lung cellularity is found between control and smoke-exposed C57BL/6 mice (24;250). However, even though inflammation is controlled this mouse strain develops some airspace enlargement (Figure 2.1). It is possible that the initial inflammation developed in response to cigarette smoke causes a suttle matrix damage which becomes apparent as the animal grows older and the lung is exposed to more mechanical stress. Studies done by Wright et al. in guinea pigs have shown that smoke-induced lung damage can be partially (~45%) prevented if the animals exposed are treated with a NE inhibitor for the entire 6 months of exposure (184). However, if the treatment starts 4 moths after the beginning of smoke exposure, the animals are not protected from emphysema, suggesting that the processes that lead to the development of the disease start early on in response to smoke. In the case of the C57BL/6 mouse strain, it is possible that the mild morphological changes observed in the lung after chronic smoke exposure are a direct result of the initial insult and the control of the inflammatory process prevents the development of functional significant "real emphysema".

In an attempt to better understand the regulation of the inflammatory process, the expression of cytokines over time was studied. No difference between controls and smoke-exposed animals was found initially. However, after 2 months of treatment a significant increase in TNF- α , MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β could be observed. Similarly to what is observed in the cellular profile, the overexpression of these cytokines was controlled and after 6 months post-initial exposure to cigarette smoke, there was no difference in the expression of all the tested cytokines between control and smoke-exposed mice.

MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β are CC chemokines produced by several different cell types, including macrophages, lymphocytes, but also by fibroblasts, dendritic and epithelial cells (267). Since we have assessed the expression of cytokine mRNA at the level of whole lung tissue, it is difficult to know which cells are responsible for the up-regulation of MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β . It is possible that the increased expression of these two chemokines occurred in a type of cell which numbers were not increased. Furthermore, the up-regulation in TNF- α could be a direct result in increased levels of MIP-1 α . It is known that MIP-1 α , functions in vivo as an autocrine activator, enhancing the production of TNF- α (268). Another possible explanation could be that the increase in the levels of MIP-1 α and MIP-1 β highlighted the beginning of a secondary inflammatory wave that happened between 2 and 6 months of smoke exposure.

These findings in conjunction with our previous results in the expression of cytokines in two other strains of mice, AKR/J ('super-susceptible') and NZW/Lac/J ('resistant'), suggest that the regulation of MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , and TNF- α might be important in the resolution of inflammation and the development of the disease (24). After 6 months of smoke-exposure the 'super-susceptible' AKR/J developed airspace

enlargement, and a large inflammatory response comprised of macrophages, polymorphonuclear cells and lymphocytes. Furthermore, there was an increased expression of a series of cytokines, including MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β and TNF- α . On the other hand, the 'resistant' NZW/Lac/J showed no airspace enlargement and no inflammatory reaction after chronic smoke-exposure. Interestingly, a significant decreased expression of the same cytokines was observed.

CC-chemokines have been identified as important mediators in the pathogenesis of immune-mediated diseases such as myocarditis, suggesting that they might be key players of tissue injury in the production of emphysema (269). The observed correlation between the expression of these three chemokines and the degree of lung tissue damage cannot be mere coincidence, but more studies are needed to clarify what the exact role of these chemokines is in the development of emphysema.

Proteinases are believed to be important in the remodelling processes of the pathological lung. Various proteinases have been suggested to play a role in emphysema and in this study smoke exposure causes the change in expression of several of them. MMPs are a large family of zinc-dependent proteinases which have the ability to degrade all the components of the extracellular matrix. Furthermore, their proteolytic activity has been shown to play an important role in immunity, by regulating cytokine and chemokine gradients and consequently affecting the migration of inflammatory cells (193;194). It was interesting to find that MMP-9 was one of the genes most significantly down-regulated in response to smoke exposure in C57BL/6 mice. This suggests that the down-regulation of this MMP might be linked to the lesser airspace enlargement observed in these mice in comparison to other more susceptible strains, like the AKR/J. However,

C57BL/6 mice do develop some degree of airspace enlargement and this might be associated with the observed increased expression of two other proteinases, neurotrypsin and cathepsin K. Neither of these proteinases has been previously implicated in emphysema, making this an interesting finding.

Neurotrypsin (Prss12) is a proteinase mainly produced in the nervous system but it is also expressed in the bone marrow and lungs. Cathepsin K is a potent elastase which cleaves type I and II collagen at multiple sites within the triple helix and at the end of the molecules (270). Studies have mainly focused on its role in bone turnover but it has been recently suggested that it might play an important role in the remodelling of fibrous tissue in the lung (266). It is of interest to see the up-regulation of this proteinase at the same time as a decreased expression of MMP-9 since bone resorption studies have suggested that they might have compensatory roles (271). The results from this study suggest that this same compensatory mechanism might be occurring in the lung and it might explain why even when MMP-9 is inhibited, airspace enlargement occurs in response to smokeexposure.

A possible explanation for the down-regulation of MMP-9 is the decreased activation of AP-1, a hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2)-sensitive transcription factor (272). A large number of MMPs, including MMP-9 and MMP-12, have AP-1 binding sites in their promoters and their transcription is somehow regulated by this factor (273). *In vitro* studies have shown that cigarette smoke condensate induces the expression of MMP-12 through an H_2O_2 -dependant pathway involving NADPH oxidase and AP-1 (274). Interestingly, several genes that encode for essential components of the NADPH oxidase system, as well as genes that regulate its activity are down-regulated in the C57BL/6 mice exposed to cigarette smoke (Figure 3.1). NADPH oxidase activation is dependant on the translocation to the membrane of its cytosolic components, including Ncf4 and Rac2, two genes that are down-regulated in the smoke exposed C57BL/6 mice (275).

Moreover, it has been recently shown that NADPH oxidase is highly activated by calprotectin, a complex of S100a8 and S100a9, genes which are also down-regulated in the C57BL/6 smoke-exposed mice (276). The decreased expression of these genes could have led to a reduced activation of the NADPH oxidase system, causing a low production of H_2O_2 and lower activation of the transcription factor AP-1, possibly altering the expression of MMP-9. However, more detailed studies are needed to verify if this is true and to clarify what is the exact role of each of the proteinases whose expression is altered in the development of emphysema.

Our laboratory has also conducted a study, which I have been part of, looking at the gene expression of mouse strains "resistant" (NZWLac/J) and "super-susceptible" (AKR/J) to the development of emphysema after chronic smoke exposure. Using the same techniques as described in the previous chapter, it was found that there was a striking difference in the response to smoke between both strains. In the NZWLac/J, chronic smoke-exposure induced a genetic response leading to the suppression of lung inflammation and up-regulation of anti-oxidant genes, similar to what is seen in the C57BL/6 strain. The response to smoke observed in the resistant strain included the down-regulation of pro-inflammatory including lysophospholipases, genes. immunoglobulins and complement, as well as genes that directly affect the function of neutrophils, macrophages, dendritic cells, and B and T lymphocytes. Moreover, the NZWLac/J strain showed increased expression of a series of anti-inflammatory genes

Figure 3.1 Proposed mechanism of inhibition of MMP-9 transcription in the C57BL/6 smoke-exposed mice. Under normal conditions cigarette smoke activates NADPH oxidase, leading to increase H_2O_2 production. C57BL/6 mice exposed to cigarette smoke down-regulate the expression of components (Ncf4 and Rac2) and activators (S100a8 and S100a9) of the NADPH oxidase system, leading to decreased levels of active AP-1 and possibly decreased transcription of the MMP-9 gene.



after chronic smoke exposure. The study of the genomic response to cigarette smoking in this resistant strain could be helpful in the understanding of the progression of the inflammatory process following smoke exposure and how it can be controlled. In contrast, the AKR/J strain response to smoke was characterized by enhanced expression of genes of innate and adaptive immunity and apoptosis, possibly explained the development of emphysema.

It is important to understand that our studies look at the gene expression of mouse strains with different susceptibilities to smoke-induced emphysema at one single timepoint. It would be of interest to observe the changes in gene expression over time in the different strains in order to better understand the early response to smoke in each of them, and how this could affect the gene regulation at later time points. Furthermore, this kind of study would permit us to possibly pin point individual genes whose early regulation is important in order for the "resistant" strains not to develop the disease.

The identification of strains with extreme opposite phenotypes after chronic smoke exposure allowed us to start a quantitive trait loci (QTL) study, which I have been in charged of. An F2 generation has been developed between the cross of the NZW/J (resistant) and the AKR/J (super-susceptible) strains. More than 250 F2 mice have been exposed to smoke for a period of 6 months and they have been phenotyped by assessing their lung mechanical properties, as well as Lm. These animals have a wide range of phenotypes and individuals with more extreme phenotypes than the parental strains have been observed (Figure 3.2). Genotyping of these mice is currently in progress, and results from the QTL study could be very promising. This work will allow us to identify regions of the genome that are linked to the susceptibility of the development of emphysema Figure 3.1 Elastance (Htis) at 3-cm H_2O positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) in F2 mice after 6 months of cigarette smoke exposure. Values for AKR/J and NZW/J mice are means of eight animals \pm SD.



in the mice model, which could advance our understanding of the susceptibility to the development of emphysema in humans. Genes present in these regions will then be identified and possible candidate genes based on their function and/or expression regulation will be studied.

The present thesis highlights the multifactorial and complex mechanisms that take part in the development of emphysema. Furthermore, it raises the question of what does airspace enlargement mean in mice and whether the phenotype observed in the C57BL/6 strain is "real emphysema" or mere airspace enlargement. These morphological changes (airspace enlargement) in the lungs of mice are readibly inducible and this has questioned the validity of some mouse models for human emphysema (277). We believe that a good model of emphysema by definition requires the presence of an abnormal pulmonary function and probably an inflammatory response, including T-cells, as seen in the human disease. The study of the genetic profile of the C57BL/6 strain of mice helped us to identify possible candidate genes that could explain the mechanism of airspace enlargement and inhibition of inflammation observed in this strain when chronically exposed to cigarette smoke. Furthermore, a time-course study of inflammation was presented, allowing us to understand better how the inflammatory process is resolved in this strain. The suggested follow-up studies, as well as the culmination of the QTL study, will provide us with valuable data that could possibly help us elucidate the molecular and cellular mechanisms responsible for the development of emphysema.

REFERENCES:

- Pauwels,R.A., Buist,A.S., Calverley,P.M., Jenkins,C.R., and Hurd,S.S. 2001. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. NHLBI/WHO Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) Workshop summary. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 163:1256-1276.
- 2. Barnes, P.J. 2003. New concepts in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Annu. Rev. Med.* 54:113-129.
- 3. Vestbo, J., Prescott, E., and Lange, P. 1996. Association of chronic mucus hypersecretion with FEV1 decline and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease morbidity. Copenhagen City Heart Study Group. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 153:1530-1535.
- 4. Murray, C.J. and Lopez, A.D. 1997. Alternative projections of mortality and disability by cause 1990-2020: Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet* 349:1498-1504.
- 5. Murray, C.J. and Lopez, A.D. 1997. Global mortality, disability, and the contribution of risk factors: Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet* 349:1436-1442.
- 6. Murray, C.J. and Lopez, A.D. 1997. Mortality by cause for eight regions of the world: Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet* 349:1269-1276.
- 7. Barnes, P.J. 2000. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 343:269-280.
- 8. Wise, R.A. 1997. Changing smoking patterns and mortality from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Prev. Med.* 26:418-421.
- 9. Lomas, D.A. and Silverman, E.K. 2001. The genetics of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respir.Res.* 2:20-26.
- Soriano, J.B., Maier, W.C., Egger, P., Visick, G., Thakrar, B., Sykes, J., and Pride, N.B. 2000. Recent trends in physician diagnosed COPD in women and men in the UK. *Thorax* 55:789-794.
- 11. Calverley, P.M. and Walker, P. 2003. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Lancet* 362:1053-1061.
- 12. Barnes, P.J. 2002. New treatments for COPD. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 1:437-446.
- 13. Retamales, I., Elliott, W.M., Meshi, B., Coxson, H.O., Pare, P.D., Sciurba, F.C., Rogers, R.M., Hayashi, S., and Hogg, J.C. 2001. Amplification of inflammation in

emphysema and its association with latent adenoviral infection. Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med. 164:469-473.

- 14. Silverman, E.K. and Speizer, F.E. 1996. Risk factors for the development of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Med. Clin. North Am.* 80:501-522.
- 15. Sargeant, L.A., Jaeckel, A., and Wareham, N.J. 2000. Interaction of vitamin C with the relation between smoking and obstructive airways disease in EPIC Norfolk. European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. *Eur.Respir.J.* 16:397-403.
- 16. Barker, D.J. and Osmond, C. 1986. Childhood respiratory infection and adult chronic bronchitis in England and Wales. *Br.Med.J. (Clin.Res.Ed)* 293:1271-1275.
- Barker, D.J., Godfrey, K.M., Fall, C., Osmond, C., Winter, P.D., and Shaheen, S.O. 1991. Relation of birth weight and childhood respiratory infection to adult lung function and death from chronic obstructive airways disease. *BMJ* 303:671-675.
- 18. Tager, I.B., Segal, M.R., Speizer, F.E., and Weiss, S.T. 1988. The natural history of forced expiratory volumes. Effect of cigarette smoking and respiratory symptoms. *Am.Rev.Respir.Dis.* 138:837-849.
- 19. Sandford, A.J., Weir, T.D., and Pare, P.D. 1997. Genetic risk factors for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Eur. Respir. J.* 10:1380-1391.
- 20. Turato, G., Zuin, R., and Saetta, M. 2001. Pathogenesis and pathology of COPD. *Respiration* 68:117-128.
- 21. Barnes, P.J. 1999. Genetics and pulmonary medicine. 9. Molecular genetics of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax* 54:245-252.
- 22. Barnes, P.J. 2004. Mediators of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Pharmacol.Rev.* 56:515-548.
- 23. Joos, L. 2004. COPD and genetics--what's new? Swiss. Med. Wkly. 134:437-439.
- 24. Guerassimov, A., Hoshino, Y., Takubo, Y., Turcotte, A., Yamamoto, M., Ghezzo, H., Triantafillopoulos, A., Whittaker, K., Hoidal, J.R., and Cosio, M.G. 2004. The development of emphysema in cigarette smoke-exposed mice is strain dependent. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 170:974-980.
- 25. Silverman,E.K., Chapman,H.A., Drazen,J.M., Weiss,S.T., Rosner,B., Campbell,E.J., O'DONNELL,W.J., Reilly,J.J., Ginns,L., Mentzer,S. *et al.* 1998. Genetic epidemiology of severe, early-onset chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Risk to relatives for airflow obstruction and chronic bronchitis. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 157:1770-1778.

- 26. Redline, S., Tishler, P.V., Rosner, B., Lewitter, F.I., Vandenburgh, M., Weiss, S.T., and Speizer, F.E. 1989. Genotypic and phenotypic similarities in pulmonary function among family members of adult monozygotic and dizygotic twins. *Am.J.Epidemiol.* 129:827-836.
- 27. ERIKSSON,S. 1965. Studies in alpha 1-antitrypsin deficiency. Acta Med.Scand.Suppl 432:1-85.
- 28. Carrell, R.W. 1986. alpha 1-Antitrypsin: molecular pathology, leukocytes, and tissue damage. *J.Clin.Invest* 78:1427-1431.
- 29. Lomas, D.A., Evans, D.L., Finch, J.T., and Carrell, R.W. 1992. The mechanism of Z alpha 1-antitrypsin accumulation in the liver. *Nature* 357:605-607.
- 30. Tobin, M.J., Cook, P.J., and Hutchison, D.C. 1983. Alpha 1 antitrypsin deficiency: the clinical and physiological features of pulmonary emphysema in subjects homozygous for Pi type Z. A survey by the British Thoracic Association. *Br.J.Dis.Chest* 77:14-27.
- 31. Janus, E.D., Phillips, N.T., and Carrell, R.W. 1985. Smoking, lung function, and alpha 1-antitrypsin deficiency. *Lancet* 1:152-154.
- 32. Piitulainen, E. and ERIKSSON, S. 1999. Decline in FEV1 related to smoking status in individuals with severe alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency (PiZZ). *Eur.Respir.J.* 13:247-251.
- Bruce, R.M., Cohen, B.H., Diamond, E.L., Fallat, R.J., Knudson, R.J., Lebowitz, M.D., Mittman, C., Patterson, C.D., and Tockman, M.S. 1984. Collaborative study to assess risk of lung disease in Pi MZ phenotype subjects. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 130:386-390.
- 34. Silverman,E.K., Mosley,J.D., Palmer,L.J., Barth,M., Senter,J.M., Brown,A., Drazen,J.M., Kwiatkowski,D.J., Chapman,H.A., Campbell,E.J. *et al.* 2002. Genome-wide linkage analysis of severe, early-onset chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: airflow obstruction and chronic bronchitis phenotypes. *Hum.Mol.Genet.* 11:623-632.
- 35. Silverman, E.K., Palmer, L.J., Mosley, J.D., Barth, M., Senter, J.M., Brown, A., Drazen, J.M., Kwiatkowski, D.J., Chapman, H.A., Campbell, E.J. *et al.* 2002. Genomewide linkage analysis of quantitative spirometric phenotypes in severe early-onset chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Hum.Genet.* 70:1229-1239.
- 36. Palmer,L.J., Celedon,J.C., Chapman,H.A., Speizer,F.E., Weiss,S.T., and Silverman,E.K. 2003. Genome-wide linkage analysis of bronchodilator responsiveness and post-bronchodilator spirometric phenotypes in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Hum.Mol.Genet.* 12:1199-1210.

- DeMeo,D.L., Celedon,J.C., Lange,C., Reilly,J.J., Chapman,H.A., Sylvia,J.S., Speizer,F.E., Weiss,S.T., and Silverman,E.K. 2004. Genome-wide linkage of forced mid-expiratory flow in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 170:1294-1301.
- 38. Poller, W., Faber, J.P., Scholz, S., Weidinger, S., Bartholome, K., Olek, K., and ERIKSSON, S. 1992. Mis-sense mutation of alpha 1-antichymotrypsin gene associated with chronic lung disease. *Lancet* 339:1538.
- 39. Poller, W., Faber, J.P., Weidinger, S., Tief, K., Scholz, S., Fischer, M., Olek, K., Kirchgesser, M., and Heidtmann, H.H. 1993. A leucine-to-proline substitution causes a defective alpha 1-antichymotrypsin allele associated with familial obstructive lung disease. *Genomics* 17:740-743.
- 40. Sandford, A.J., Chagani, T., Weir, T.D., and Pare, P.D. 1998. Alpha 1antichymotrypsin mutations in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Dis.Markers* 13:257-260.
- 41. Benetazzo, M.G., Gile, L.S., Bombieri, C., Malerba, G., Massobrio, M., Pignatti, P.F., and Luisetti, M. 1999. alpha 1-antitrypsin TAQ I polymorphism and alpha 1-antichymotrypsin mutations in patients with obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respir. Med.* 93:648-654.
- 42. Gooptu,B., Hazes,B., Chang,W.S., Dafforn,T.R., Carrell,R.W., Read,R.J., and Lomas,D.A. 2000. Inactive conformation of the serpin alpha(1)-antichymotrypsin indicates two-stage insertion of the reactive loop: implications for inhibitory function and conformational disease. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 97:67-72.
- 43. Shapiro, S.D. 2003. Proteolysis in the lung. Eur. Respir. J. Suppl 44:30s-32s.
- 44. Minematsu,N., Nakamura,H., Tateno,H., Nakajima,T., and Yamaguchi,K. 2001. Genetic polymorphism in matrix metalloproteinase-9 and pulmonary emphysema. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 289:116-119.
- 45. Joos, L., He, J.Q., Shepherdson, M.B., Connett, J.E., Anthonisen, N.R., Pare, P.D., and Sandford, A.J. 2002. The role of matrix metalloproteinase polymorphisms in the rate of decline in lung function. *Hum.Mol.Genet.* 11:569-576.
- 46. Wilson, A.G., Symons, J.A., McDowell, T.L., McDevitt, H.O., and Duff, G.W. 1997. Effects of a polymorphism in the human tumor necrosis factor alpha promoter on transcriptional activation. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 94:3195-3199.
- 47. Huang, S.L., Su, C.H., and Chang, S.C. 1997. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene polymorphism in chronic bronchitis. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 156:1436-1439.
- 48. Patuzzo, C., Gile, L.S., Zorzetto, M., Trabetti, E., Malerba, G., Pignatti, P.F., and Luisetti, M. 2000. Tumor necrosis factor gene complex in COPD and disseminated bronchiectasis. *Chest* 117:1353-1358.

- 49. Higham, M.A., Pride, N.B., Alikhan, A., and Morrell, N.W. 2000. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha gene promoter polymorphism in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Eur. Respir. J.* 15:281-284.
- 50. Brodde, O.E. and Leineweber, K. 2005. Beta2-adrenoceptor gene polymorphisms. *Pharmacogenet.Genomics* 15:267-275.
- 51. Weir, T.D., Mallek, N., Sandford, A.J., Bai, T.R., Awadh, N., Fitzgerald, J.M., Cockcroft, D., James, A., Liggett, S.B., and Pare, P.D. 1998. beta2-Adrenergic receptor haplotypes in mild, moderate and fatal/near fatal asthma. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 158:787-791.
- 52. Ramsay, C.E., Hayden, C.M., Tiller, K.J., Burton, P.R., Goldblatt, J., and Lesouef, P.N. 1999. Polymorphisms in the beta2-adrenoreceptor gene are associated with decreased airway responsiveness. *Clin.Exp.Allergy* 29:1195-1203.
- 53. Summerhill, E., Leavitt, S.A., Gidley, H., Parry, R., Solway, J., and Ober, C. 2000. beta(2)-adrenergic receptor Arg16/Arg16 genotype is associated with reduced lung function, but not with asthma, in the Hutterites. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 162:599-602.
- 54. Ho,L.I., Harn,H.J., Chen,C.J., and Tsai,N.M. 2001. Polymorphism of the beta(2)adrenoceptor in COPD in Chinese subjects. *Chest* 120:1493-1499.
- 55. Joos, L., Weir, T.D., Connett, J.E., Anthonisen, N.R., Woods, R., Pare, P.D., and Sandford, A.J. 2003. Polymorphisms in the beta2 adrenergic receptor and bronchodilator response, bronchial hyperresponsiveness, and rate of decline in lung function in smokers. *Thorax* 58:703-707.
- 56. Castell,J.V., Donato,M.T., and Gomez-Lechon,M.J. 2005. Metabolism and bioactivation of toxicants in the lung. The in vitro cellular approach. *Exp. Toxicol.Pathol.* 57 Suppl 1:189-204.
- 57. Kim,H.J., Liu,X., Wang,H., Kohyama,T., Kobayashi,T., Wen,F.Q., Romberger,D.J., Abe,S., MacNee,W., Rahman,I. *et al.* 2002. Glutathione prevents inhibition of fibroblast-mediated collagen gel contraction by cigarette smoke. *Am.J.Physiol Lung Cell Mol.Physiol* 283:L409-L417.
- 58. Pryor, W.A. and Stone, K. 1993. Oxidants in cigarette smoke. Radicals, hydrogen peroxide, peroxynitrate, and peroxynitrite. *Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci.* 686:12-27.
- 59. Smith,C.A. and Harrison,D.J. 1997. Association between polymorphism in gene for microsomal epoxide hydrolase and susceptibility to emphysema. *Lancet* 350:630-633.
- 60. Yim, J.J., Park, G.Y., Lee, C.T., Kim, Y.W., Han, S.K., Shim, Y.S., and Yoo, C.G. 2000. Genetic susceptibility to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in Koreans:

combined analysis of polymorphic genotypes for microsomal epoxide hydrolase and glutathione S-transferase M1 and T1. *Thorax* 55:121-125.

- 61. London, S.J., Daly, A.K., Cooper, J., Navidi, W.C., Carpenter, C.L., and Idle, J.R. 1995. Polymorphism of glutathione S-transferase M1 and lung cancer risk among African-Americans and Caucasians in Los Angeles County, California. J.Natl.Cancer Inst. 87:1246-1253.
- 62. Harrison, D.J., Cantlay, A.M., Rae, F., Lamb, D., and Smith, C.A. 1997. Frequency of glutathione S-transferase M1 deletion in smokers with emphysema and lung cancer. *Hum.Exp.Toxicol.* 16:356-360.
- 63. Baranova, H., Perriot, J., Albuisson, E., Ivaschenko, T., Baranov, V.S., Hemery, B., Mouraire, P., Riol, N., and Malet, P. 1997. Peculiarities of the GSTM1 0/0 genotype in French heavy smokers with various types of chronic bronchitis. *Hum. Genet.* 99:822-826.
- 64. Tenhunen, R., Marver, H.S., and Schmid, R. 1968. The enzymatic conversion of heme to bilirubin by microsomal heme oxygenase. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 61:748-755.
- 65. Cantoni,L., Rossi,C., Rizzardini,M., Gadina,M., and Ghezzi,P. 1991. Interleukin-1 and tumour necrosis factor induce hepatic haem oxygenase. Feedback regulation by glucocorticoids. *Biochem.J.* 279 (Pt 3):891-894.
- 66. Mitani, K., Fujita, H., Kappas, A., and Sassa, S. 1992. Heme oxygenase is a positive acute-phase reactant in human Hep3B hepatoma cells. *Blood* 79:1255-1259.
- 67. Alam, J. and Den, Z. 1992. Distal AP-1 binding sites mediate basal level enhancement and TPA induction of the mouse heme oxygenase-1 gene. *J.Biol.Chem.* 267:21894-21900.
- 68. Lee, P.J., Alam, J., Wiegand, G.W., and Choi, A.M. 1996. Overexpression of heme oxygenase-1 in human pulmonary epithelial cells results in cell growth arrest and increased resistance to hyperoxia. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 93:10393-10398.
- 69. Otterbein, L.E., Lee, P.J., Chin, B.Y., Petrache, I., Camhi, S.L., Alam, J., and Choi, A.M. 1999. Protective effects of heme oxygenase-1 in acute lung injury. *Chest* 116:61S-63S.
- Yamada, N., Yamaya, M., Okinaga, S., Nakayama, K., Sekizawa, K., Shibahara, S., and Sasaki, H. 2000. Microsatellite polymorphism in the heme oxygenase-1 gene promoter is associated with susceptibility to emphysema. *Am.J. Hum. Genet*. 66:187-195.
- 71. Hogg, J.C., Chu, F., Utokaparch, S., Woods, R., Elliott, W.M., Buzatu, L., Cherniack, R.M., Rogers, R.M., Sciurba, F.C., Coxson, H.O. *et al.* 2004. The nature

of small-airway obstruction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 350:2645-2653.

- 72. Churg, A. and Wright, J.L. 2005. Proteases and emphysema. *Curr. Opin. Pulm. Med.* 11:153-159.
- 73. Eidelman, D., Saetta, M.P., Ghezzo, H., Wang, N.S., Hoidal, J.R., King, M., and Cosio, M.G. 1990. Cellularity of the alveolar walls in smokers and its relation to alveolar destruction. Functional implications. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 141:1547-1552.
- 74. Finkelstein, R., Fraser, R.S., Ghezzo, H., and Cosio, M.G. 1995. Alveolar inflammation and its relation to emphysema in smokers. *Am.J. Respir. Crit Care Med.* 152:1666-1672.
- 75. Majo, J., Ghezzo, H., and Cosio, M.G. 2001. Lymphocyte population and apoptosis in the lungs of smokers and their relation to emphysema. *Eur. Respir. J.* 17:946-953.
- Saetta, M., Baraldo, S., Corbino, L., Turato, G., Braccioni, F., Rea, F., Cavallesco, G., Tropeano, G., Mapp, C.E., Maestrelli, P. et al. 1999. CD8+ve cells in the lungs of smokers with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am. J. Respir. Crit Care Med. 160:711-717.
- 77. Agusti, A., MacNee, W., Donaldson, K., and Cosio, M. 2003. Hypothesis: does COPD have an autoimmune component? *Thorax* 58:832-834.
- 78. Barnes, P.J. and Cosio, M.G. 2004. Characterization of T lymphocytes in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *PLoS.Med.* 1:e20.
- 79. Saetta, M., Turato, G., Maestrelli, P., Mapp, C.E., and Fabbri, L.M. 2001. Cellular and structural bases of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 163:1304-1309.
- 80. Hunninghake, G.W. and Crystal, R.G. 1983. Cigarette smoking and lung destruction. Accumulation of neutrophils in the lungs of cigarette smokers. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 128:833-838.
- 81. Keatings, V.M., Collins, P.D., Scott, D.M., and Barnes, P.J. 1996. Differences in interleukin-8 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in induced sputum from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or asthma. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 153:530-534.
- 82. Lacoste, J.Y., Bousquet, J., Chanez, P., Van Vyve, T., Simony-Lafontaine, J., Lequeu, N., Vic, P., Enander, I., Godard, P., and Michel, F.B. 1993. Eosinophilic and neutrophilic inflammation in asthma, chronic bronchitis, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *J.Allergy Clin.Immunol.* 92:537-548.
- 83. Stockley, R.A. 2002. Neutrophils and the pathogenesis of COPD. *Chest* 121:151S-155S.
- 84. Sparrow, D., Glynn, R.J., Cohen, M., and Weiss, S.T. 1984. The relationship of the peripheral leukocyte count and cigarette smoking to pulmonary function among adult men. *Chest* 86:383-386.
- 85. Cosio, M.G. and Guerassimov, A. 1999. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Inflammation of small airways and lung parenchyma. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 160:S21-S25.
- 86. Terashima, T., Wiggs, B., English, D., Hogg, J.C., and van Eeden, S.F. 1997. Phagocytosis of small carbon particles (PM10) by alveolar macrophages stimulates the release of polymorphonuclear leukocytes from bone marrow. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 155:1441-1447.
- 87. Totti,N., III, McCusker,K.T., Campbell,E.J., Griffin,G.L., and Senior,R.M. 1984. Nicotine is chemotactic for neutrophils and enhances neutrophil responsiveness to chemotactic peptides. *Science* 223:169-171.
- 88. MacNee, W., Wiggs, B., Belzberg, A.S., and Hogg, J.C. 1989. The effect of cigarette smoking on neutrophil kinetics in human lungs. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 321:924-928.
- 89. Di Stefano, A., Maestrelli, P., Roggeri, A., Turato, G., Calabro, S., Potena, A., Mapp, C.E., Ciaccia, A., Covacev, L., Fabbri, L.M. *et al.* 1994. Upregulation of adhesion molecules in the bronchial mucosa of subjects with chronic obstructive bronchitis. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 149:803-810.
- 90. Tanino, M., Betsuyaku, T., Takeyabu, K., Tanino, Y., Yamaguchi, E., Miyamoto, K., and Nishimura, M. 2002. Increased levels of interleukin-8 in BAL fluid from smokers susceptible to pulmonary emphysema. *Thorax* 57:405-411.
- 91. Traves, S.L., Culpitt, S.V., Russell, R.E., Barnes, P.J., and Donnelly, L.E. 2002. Increased levels of the chemokines GROalpha and MCP-1 in sputum samples from patients with COPD. *Thorax* 57:590-595.
- 92. Barnes, P.J., Shapiro, S.D., and Pauwels, R.A. 2003. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: molecular and cellular mechanisms. *Eur. Respir. J.* 22:672-688.
- 93. Ollerenshaw, S.L. and Woolcock, A.J. 1992. Characteristics of the inflammation in biopsies from large airways of subjects with asthma and subjects with chronic airflow limitation. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 145:922-927.
- 94. Twigg, H.L., III. 2004. Macrophages in innate and acquired immunity. Semin. Respir. Crit Care Med. 25:21-31.

- 95. Shapiro, S.D. 1999. The macrophage in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 160:S29-S32.
- 96. Di Stefano, A., Capelli, A., Lusuardi, M., Balbo, P., Vecchio, C., Maestrelli, P., Mapp, C.E., Fabbri, L.M., Donner, C.F., and Saetta, M. 1998. Severity of airflow limitation is associated with severity of airway inflammation in smokers. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 158:1277-1285.
- 97. Ofulue, A.F. and Ko, M. 1999. Effects of depletion of neutrophils or macrophages on development of cigarette smoke-induced emphysema. *Am.J.Physiol* 277:L97-105.
- Russell,R.E., Thorley,A., Culpitt,S.V., Dodd,S., Donnelly,L.E., Demattos,C., Fitzgerald,M., and Barnes,P.J. 2002. Alveolar macrophage-mediated elastolysis: roles of matrix metalloproteinases, cysteine, and serine proteases. *Am.J.Physiol Lung Cell Mol.Physiol* 283:L867-L873.
- 99. Chung, K.F. 2001. Cytokines in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Eur.Respir.J.Suppl* 34:50s-59s.
- 100. Lim,S., Roche,N., Oliver,B.G., Mattos,W., Barnes,P.J., and Chung,K.F. 2000. Balance of matrix metalloprotease-9 and tissue inhibitor of metalloprotease-1 from alveolar macrophages in cigarette smokers. Regulation by interleukin-10. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 162:1355-1360.
- 101. Di Stefano, A., Caramori, G., Oates, T., Capelli, A., Lusuardi, M., Gnemmi, I., Ioli, F., Chung, K.F., Donner, C.F., Barnes, P.J. *et al.* 2002. Increased expression of nuclear factor-kappaB in bronchial biopsies from smokers and patients with COPD. *Eur. Respir. J.* 20:556-563.
- 102. Capelli, A., Di Stefano, A., Gnemmi, I., Balbo, P., Cerutti, C.G., Balbi, B., Lusuardi, M., and Donner, C.F. 1999. Increased MCP-1 and MIP-1beta in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of chronic bronchitics. *Eur. Respir. J.* 14:160-165.
- 103. Tomita,K., Caramori,G., Lim,S., Ito,K., Hanazawa,T., Oates,T., Chiselita,I., Jazrawi,E., Chung,K.F., Barnes,P.J. *et al.* 2002. Increased p21(CIP1/WAF1) and B cell lymphoma leukemia-x(L) expression and reduced apoptosis in alveolar macrophages from smokers. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 166:724-731.
- 104. O'Shaughnessy, T.C., Ansari, T.W., Barnes, N.C., and Jeffery, P.K. 1997. Inflammation in bronchial biopsies of subjects with chronic bronchitis: inverse relationship of CD8+ T lymphocytes with FEV1. Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med. 155:852-857.
- 105. Saetta, M., Mariani, M., Panina-Bordignon, P., Turato, G., Buonsanti, C., Baraldo, S., Bellettato, C.M., Papi, A., Corbetta, L., Zuin, R. et al. 2002. Increased expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR3 and its ligand CXCL10 in peripheral airways of

smokers with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 165:1404-1409.

- 106. Grumelli,S., Corry,D.B., Song,L.Z., Song,L., Green,L., Huh,J., Hacken,J., Espada,R., Bag,R., Lewis,D.E. *et al.* 2004. An immune basis for lung parenchymal destruction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and emphysema. *PLoS.Med.* 1:e8.
- 107. Cosio, M.G., Majo, J., and Cosio, M.G. 2002. Inflammation of the airways and lung parenchyma in COPD: role of T cells. *Chest* 121:160S-165S.
- 108. Fujiwara, N. and Kobayashi, K. 2005. Macrophages in inflammation. Curr. Drug Targets. Inflamm. Allergy 4:281-286.
- 109. Hashimoto,S., Kobayashi,A., Kooguchi,K., Kitamura,Y., Onodera,H., and Nakajima,H. 2000. Upregulation of two death pathways of perforin/granzyme and FasL/Fas in septic acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 161:237-243.
- 110. Chrysofakis, G., Tzanakis, N., Kyriakoy, D., Tsoumakidou, M., Tsiligianni, I., Klimathianaki, M., and Siafakas, N.M. 2004. Perforin expression and cytotoxic activity of sputum CD8+ lymphocytes in patients with COPD. *Chest* 125:71-76.
- 111. Pettersen, C.A. and Adler, K.B. 2002. Airways inflammation and COPD: epithelial-neutrophil interactions. *Chest* 121:142S-150S.
- 112. Mio, T., Romberger, D.J., Thompson, A.B., Robbins, R.A., Heires, A., and Rennard, S.I. 1997. Cigarette smoke induces interleukin-8 release from human bronchial epithelial cells. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 155:1770-1776.
- 113. Hellermann, G.R., Nagy, S.B., Kong, X., Lockey, R.F., and Mohapatra, S.S. 2002. Mechanism of cigarette smoke condensate-induced acute inflammatory response in human bronchial epithelial cells. *Respir.Res.* 3:22.
- 114. de Boer, W.I., Sont, J.K., van Schadewijk, A., Stolk, J., van Krieken, J.H., and Hiemstra, P.S. 2000. Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1, interleukin 8, and chronic airways inflammation in COPD. *J. Pathol.* 190:619-626.
- 115. Kasahara, Y., Tuder, R.M., Taraseviciene-Stewart, L., Le Cras, T.D., Abman, S., Hirth, P.K., Waltenberger, J., and Voelkel, N.F. 2000. Inhibition of VEGF receptors causes lung cell apoptosis and emphysema. *J.Clin.Invest* 106:1311-1319.
- 116. Velarde, M.C., Parisek, S.I., Eason, R.R., Simmen, F.A., and Simmen, R.C. 2005. The secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor gene is a target of epidermal growth factor receptor action in endometrial epithelial cells. *J.Endocrinol.* 184:141-151.

- 117. Gompertz, S., Bayley, D.L., Hill, S.L., and Stockley, R.A. 2001. Relationship between airway inflammation and the frequency of exacerbations in patients with smoking related COPD. *Thorax* 56:36-41.
- 118. Huang,Q., Liu,D., Majewski,P., Schulte,L.C., Korn,J.M., Young,R.A., Lander,E.S., and Hacohen,N. 2001. The plasticity of dendritic cell responses to pathogens and their components. *Science* 294:870-875.
- 119. Zeid,N.A. and Muller,H.K. 1995. Tobacco smoke induced lung granulomas and tumors: association with pulmonary Langerhans cells. *Pathology* 27:247-254.
- 120. D'hulst,A.I., Vermaelen,K.Y., Brusselle,G.G., Joos,G.F., and Pauwels,R.A. 2005. Time course of cigarette smoke-induced pulmonary inflammation in mice. *Eur.Respir.J.* 26:204-213.
- 121. Casolaro, M.A., Bernaudin, J.F., Saltini, C., Ferrans, V.J., and Crystal, R.G. 1988. Accumulation of Langerhans' cells on the epithelial surface of the lower respiratory tract in normal subjects in association with cigarette smoking. *Am.Rev.Respir.Dis.* 137:406-411.
- 122. Soler, P., Moreau, A., Basset, F., and Hance, A.J. 1989. Cigarette smoking-induced changes in the number and differentiated state of pulmonary dendritic cells/Langerhans cells. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 139:1112-1117.
- 123. Keatings, V.M. and Barnes, P.J. 1997. Granulocyte activation markers in induced sputum: comparison between chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, asthma, and normal subjects. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 155:449-453.
- 124. Saetta, M., Di Stefano, A., Maestrelli, P., Turato, G., Ruggieri, M.P., Roggeri, A., Calcagni, P., Mapp, C.E., Ciaccia, A., and Fabbri, L.M. 1994. Airway eosinophilia in chronic bronchitis during exacerbations. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 150:1646-1652.
- 125. Saetta, M., Di Stefano, A., Maestrelli, P., Turato, G., Mapp, C.E., Pieno, M., Zanguochi, G., Del Prete, G., and Fabbri, L.M. 1996. Airway eosinophilia and expression of interleukin-5 protein in asthma and in exacerbations of chronic bronchitis. *Clin.Exp.Allergy* 26:766-774.
- 126. Aaron,S.D., Angel,J.B., Lunau,M., Wright,K., Fex,C., Le Saux,N., and Dales,R.E. 2001. Granulocyte inflammatory markers and airway infection during acute exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 163:349-355.
- 127. Vernooy, J.H., Kucukaycan, M., Jacobs, J.A., Chavannes, N.H., Buurman, W.A., Dentener, M.A., and Wouters, E.F. 2002. Local and systemic inflammation in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: soluble tumor necrosis factor receptors are increased in sputum. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 166:1218-1224.

- 128. Di Francia, M., Barbier, D., Mege, J.L., and Orehek, J. 1994. Tumor necrosis factoralpha levels and weight loss in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 150:1453-1455.
- 129. Riise, G.C., Larsson, S., Lofdahl, C.G., and Andersson, B.A. 1994. Circulating cell adhesion molecules in bronchial lavage and serum in COPD patients with chronic bronchitis. *Eur. Respir. J.* 7:1673-1677.
- 130. Langen, R.C., Schols, A.M., Kelders, M.C., Wouters, E.F., and Janssen-Heininger, Y.M. 2001. Inflammatory cytokines inhibit myogenic differentiation through activation of nuclear factor-kappaB. *FASEB J.* 15:1169-1180.
- 131. Churg, A., Wang, R.D., Tai, H., Wang, X., Xie, C., and Wright, J.L. 2004. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha drives 70% of cigarette smoke-induced emphysema in the mouse. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 170:492-498.
- 132. Russell,R.E., Culpitt,S.V., DeMatos,C., Donnelly,L., Smith,M., Wiggins,J., and Barnes,P.J. 2002. Release and activity of matrix metalloproteinase-9 and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 by alveolar macrophages from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Cell Mol.Biol.* 26:602-609.
- 133. Kusano,K., Miyaura,C., Inada,M., Tamura,T., Ito,A., Nagase,H., Kamoi,K., and Suda,T. 1998. Regulation of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP-2, -3, -9, and -13) by interleukin-1 and interleukin-6 in mouse calvaria: association of MMP induction with bone resorption. *Endocrinology* 139:1338-1345.
- 134. Rusznak, C., Mills, P.R., Devalia, J.L., Sapsford, R.J., Davies, R.J., and Lozewicz, S. 2000. Effect of cigarette smoke on the permeability and IL-1beta and sICAM-1 release from cultured human bronchial epithelial cells of never-smokers, smokers, and patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Cell Mol.Biol.* 23:530-536.
- 135. Lucey, E.C., Keane, J., Kuang, P.P., Snider, G.L., and Goldstein, R.H. 2002. Severity of elastase-induced emphysema is decreased in tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-1 beta receptor-deficient mice. *Lab Invest* 82:79-85.
- 136. Kuschner, W.G., D'Alessandro, A., Wong, H., and Blanc, P.D. 1996. Dosedependent cigarette smoking-related inflammatory responses in healthy adults. *Eur. Respir. J.* 9:1989-1994.
- Bucchioni, E., Kharitonov, S.A., Allegra, L., and Barnes, P.J. 2003. High levels of interleukin-6 in the exhaled breath condensate of patients with COPD. *Respir.Med.* 97:1299-1302.
- 138. Bhowmik, A., Seemungal, T.A., Sapsford, R.J., and Wedzicha, J.A. 2000. Relation of sputum inflammatory markers to symptoms and lung function changes in COPD exacerbations. *Thorax* 55:114-120.

- 139. Godoy, I., Campana, A.O., Geraldo, R.R., Padovani, C.R., and Paiva, S.A. 2003. Cytokines and dietary energy restriction in stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. *Eur. Respir. J.* 22:920-925.
- 140. Wedzicha,J.A., Seemungal,T.A., Maccallum,P.K., Paul,E.A., Donaldson,G.C., Bhowmik,A., Jeffries,D.J., and Meade,T.W. 2000. Acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease are accompanied by elevations of plasma fibrinogen and serum IL-6 levels. *Thromb.Haemost.* 84:210-215.
- 141. Panzner, P., Lafitte, J.J., Tsicopoulos, A., Hamid, Q., and Tulic, M.K. 2003. Marked up-regulation of T lymphocytes and expression of interleukin-9 in bronchial biopsies from patients With chronic bronchitis with obstruction. *Chest* 124:1909-1915.
- 142. Reader, J.R., Hyde, D.M., Schelegle, E.S., Aldrich, M.C., Stoddard, A.M., McLane, M.P., Levitt, R.C., and Tepper, J.S. 2003. Interleukin-9 induces mucous cell metaplasia independent of inflammation. *Am.J.Respir.Cell Mol.Biol.* 28:664-672.
- 143. Miotto, D., Ruggieri, M.P., Boschetto, P., Cavallesco, G., Papi, A., Bononi, I., Piola, C., Murer, B., Fabbri, L.M., and Mapp, C.E. 2003. Interleukin-13 and -4 expression in the central airways of smokers with chronic bronchitis. *Eur. Respir. J.* 22:602-608.
- 144. van der Pouw Kraan TC, Kucukaycan, M., Bakker, A.M., Baggen, J.M., van der Zee, J.S., Dentener, M.A., Wouters, E.F., and Verweij, C.L. 2002. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is associated with the -1055 IL-13 promoter polymorphism. *Genes Immun.* 3:436-439.
- 145. Zheng, T., Zhu, Z., Wang, Z., Homer, R.J., Ma, B., Riese, R.J., Jr., Chapman, H.A., Jr., Shapiro, S.D., and Elias, J.A. 2000. Inducible targeting of IL-13 to the adult lung causes matrix metalloproteinase- and cathepsin-dependent emphysema. *J.Clin.Invest* 106:1081-1093.
- 146. Wang,Z., Zheng,T., Zhu,Z., Homer,R.J., Riese,R.J., Chapman,H.A., Jr., Shapiro,S.D., and Elias,J.A. 2000. Interferon gamma induction of pulmonary emphysema in the adult murine lung. *J.Exp. Med.* 192:1587-1600.
- 147. Majori, M., Corradi, M., Caminati, A., Cacciani, G., Bertacco, S., and Pesci, A. 1999. Predominant TH1 cytokine pattern in peripheral blood from subjects with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *J.Allergy Clin.Immunol.* 103:458-462.
- Balbi,B., Bason,C., Balleari,E., Fiasella,F., Pesci,A., Ghio,R., and Fabiano,F. 1997. Increased bronchoalveolar granulocytes and granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor during exacerbations of chronic bronchitis. *Eur.Respir.J.* 10:846-850.

- 149. Hallsworth, M.P., Litchfield, T.M., and Lee, T.H. 1992. Glucocorticoids inhibit granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor-1 and interleukin-5 enhanced in vitro survival of human eosinophils. *Immunology* 75:382-385.
- 150. Puneet, P., Moochhala, S., and Bhatia, M. 2005. Chemokines in acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Am.J. Physiol Lung Cell Mol. Physiol* 288:L3-15.
- 151. Horuk, R. 1994. Molecular properties of the chemokine receptor family. *Trends Pharmacol.Sci.* 15:159-165.
- Lukacs, N.W., Hogaboam, C.M., and Kunkel, S.L. 2005. Chemokines and their receptors in chronic pulmonary disease. *Curr.Drug Targets.Inflamm.Allergy* 4:313-317.
- 153. Mukaida, N. 2003. Pathophysiological roles of interleukin-8/CXCL8 in pulmonary diseases. *Am.J. Physiol Lung Cell Mol. Physiol* 284:L566-L577.
- 154. Yamamoto, C., Yoneda, T., Yoshikawa, M., Fu, A., Tokuyama, T., Tsukaguchi, K., and Narita, N. 1997. Airway inflammation in COPD assessed by sputum levels of interleukin-8. *Chest* 112:505-510.
- 155. Jinquan, T., Moller, B., Storgaard, M., Mukaida, N., Bonde, J., Grunnet, N., Black, F.T., Larsen, C.G., Matsushima, K., and Thestrup-Pedersen, K. 1997. Chemotaxis and IL-8 receptor expression in B cells from normal and HIVinfected subjects. *J.Immunol.* 158:475-484.
- 156. Culpitt,S.V., Rogers,D.F., Shah,P., De Matos,C., Russell,R.E., Donnelly,L.E., and Barnes,P.J. 2003. Impaired inhibition by dexamethasone of cytokine release by alveolar macrophages from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 167:24-31.
- 157. Profita,M., Chiappara,G., Mirabella,F., Di Giorgi,R., Chimenti,L., Costanzo,G., Riccobono,L., Bellia,V., Bousquet,J., and Vignola,A.M. 2003. Effect of cilomilast (Ariflo) on TNF-alpha, IL-8, and GM-CSF release by airway cells of patients with COPD. *Thorax* 58:573-579.
- 158. Qiu, Y., Zhu, J., Bandi, V., Atmar, R.L., Hattotuwa, K., Guntupalli, K.K., and Jeffery, P.K. 2003. Biopsy neutrophilia, neutrophil chemokine and receptor gene expression in severe exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 168:968-975.
- 159. Geiser, T., Dewald, B., Ehrengruber, M.U., Clark-Lewis, I., and Baggiolini, M. 1993. The interleukin-8-related chemotactic cytokines GRO alpha, GRO beta, and GRO gamma activate human neutrophil and basophil leukocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 268:15419-15424.
- 160. Morrison, D., Strieter, R.M., Donnelly, S.C., Burdick, M.D., Kunkel, S.L., and MacNee, W. 1998. Neutrophil chemokines in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and

leukocyte-conditioned medium from nonsmokers and smokers. *Eur. Respir. J.* 12:1067-1072.

- 161. Traves, S.L., Smith, S.J., Barnes, P.J., and Donnelly, L.E. 2004. Specific CXC but not CC chemokines cause elevated monocyte migration in COPD: a role for CXCR2. *J.Leukoc.Biol.* 76:441-450.
- 162. de Boer, W.I. 2002. Cytokines and therapy in COPD: a promising combination? *Chest* 121:209S-218S.
- 163. Standiford, T.J., Kunkel, S.L., Phan, S.H., Rollins, B.J., and Strieter, R.M. 1991. Alveolar macrophage-derived cytokines induce monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression from human pulmonary type II-like epithelial cells. *J.Biol.Chem.* 266:9912-9918.
- 164. Hautamaki,R.D., Kobayashi,D.K., Senior,R.M., and Shapiro,S.D. 1997. Requirement for macrophage elastase for cigarette smoke-induced emphysema in mice. *Science* 277:2002-2004.
- 165. Hardaker, E.L., Bacon, A.M., Carlson, K., Roshak, A.K., Foley, J.J., Schmidt, D.B., Buckley, P.T., Comegys, M., Panettieri, R.A., Jr., Sarau, H.M. *et al.* 2004. Regulation of TNF-alpha- and IFN-gamma-induced CXCL10 expression: participation of the airway smooth muscle in the pulmonary inflammatory response in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *FASEB J.* 18:191-193.
- 166. Agostini, C., Facco, M., Siviero, M., Carollo, D., Galvan, S., Cattelan, A.M., Zambello, R., Trentin, L., and Semenzato, G. 2000. CXC chemokines IP-10 and mig expression and direct migration of pulmonary CD8+/CXCR3+ T cells in the lungs of patients with HIV infection and T-cell alveolitis. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 162:1466-1473.
- 167. Zhu,J., Qiu,Y.S., Majumdar,S., Gamble,E., Matin,D., Turato,G., Fabbri,L.M., Barnes,N., Saetta,M., and Jeffery,P.K. 2001. Exacerbations of Bronchitis: bronchial eosinophilia and gene expression for interleukin-4, interleukin-5, and eosinophil chemoattractants. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 164:109-116.
- 168. de Boer, W.I., van Schadewijk, A., Sont, J.K., Sharma, H.S., Stolk, J., Hiemstra, P.S., and van Krieken, J.H. 1998. Transforming growth factor beta1 and recruitment of macrophages and mast cells in airways in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 158:1951-1957.
- 169. Wahl,S.M., Hunt,D.A., Wakefield,L.M., McCartney-Francis,N., Wahl,L.M., Roberts,A.B., and Sporn,M.B. 1987. Transforming growth factor type beta induces monocyte chemotaxis and growth factor production. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 84:5788-5792.

- 170. Li,M.O., Wan,Y.Y., Sanjabi,S., Robertson,A.K., and Flavell,R.A. 2005. Transforming Growth Factor-beta Regulation of Immune Responses. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.*
- 171. Magnan, A., Frachon, I., Rain, B., Peuchmaur, M., Monti, G., Lenot, B., Fattal, M., Simonneau, G., Galanaud, P., and Emilie, D. 1994. Transforming growth factor beta in normal human lung: preferential location in bronchial epithelial cells. *Thorax* 49:789-792.
- 172. Takizawa,H., Tanaka,M., Takami,K., Ohtoshi,T., Ito,K., Satoh,M., Okada,Y., Yamasawa,F., Nakahara,K., and Umeda,A. 2001. Increased expression of transforming growth factor-beta1 in small airway epithelium from tobacco smokers and patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 163:1476-1483.
- 173. Hodge,S.J., Hodge,G.L., Reynolds,P.N., Scicchitano,R., and Holmes,M. 2003. Increased production of TGF-beta and apoptosis of T lymphocytes isolated from peripheral blood in COPD. Am.J. Physiol Lung Cell Mol. Physiol 285:L492-L499.
- 174. Burgel, P.R. and Nadel, J.A. 2004. Roles of epidermal growth factor receptor activation in epithelial cell repair and mucin production in airway epithelium. *Thorax* 59:992-996.
- 175. Shao,M.X., Nakanaga,T., and Nadel,J.A. 2004. Cigarette smoke induces MUC5AC mucin overproduction via tumor necrosis factor-alpha-converting enzyme in human airway epithelial (NCI-H292) cells. *Am.J.Physiol Lung Cell Mol.Physiol* 287:L420-L427.
- Byrne, A.M., Bouchier-Hayes, D.J., and Harmey, J.H. 2005. Angiogenic and cell survival functions of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). J. Cell Mol. Med. 9:777-794.
- 177. Santos,S., Peinado,V.I., Ramirez,J., Morales-Blanhir,J., Bastos,R., Roca,J., Rodriguez-Roisin,R., and Barbera,J.A. 2003. Enhanced expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in pulmonary arteries of smokers and patients with moderate chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 167:1250-1256.
- 178. Kanazawa, H., Asai, K., Hirata, K., and Yoshikawa, J. 2003. Possible effects of vascular endothelial growth factor in the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J. Med.* 114:354-358.
- 179. Takahashi,H., Nukiwa,T., Yoshimura,K., Quick,C.D., States,D.J., Holmes,M.D., Whang-Peng,J., Knutsen,T., and Crystal,R.G. 1988. Structure of the human neutrophil elastase gene. *J.Biol.Chem.* 263:14739-14747.

- Shapiro,S.D., Goldstein,N.M., Houghton,A.M., Kobayashi,D.K., Kelley,D., and Belaaouaj,A. 2003. Neutrophil elastase contributes to cigarette smoke-induced emphysema in mice. *Am.J.Pathol.* 163:2329-2335.
- 181. Takahashi,H., Nukiwa,T., Basset,P., and Crystal,R.G. 1988. Myelomonocytic cell lineage expression of the neutrophil elastase gene. *J. Biol. Chem.* 263:2543-2547.
- 182. Janoff, A. 1985. Elastase in tissue injury. Annu. Rev. Med. 36:207-216.
- 183. Senior, R.M., Tegner, H., Kuhn, C., Ohlsson, K., Starcher, B.C., and Pierce, J.A. 1977. The induction of pulmonary emphysema with human leukocyte elastase. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 116:469-475.
- 184. Wright, J.L., Farmer, S.G., and Churg, A. 2002. Synthetic serine elastase inhibitor reduces cigarette smoke-induced emphysema in guinea pigs. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 166:954-960.
- 185. Yoshioka,A., Betsuyaku,T., Nishimura,M., Miyamoto,K., Kondo,T., and Kawakami,Y. 1995. Excessive neutrophil elastase in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid in subclinical emphysema. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 152:2127-2132.
- 186. Betsuyaku, T., Nishimura, M., Takeyabu, K., Tanino, M., Miyamoto, K., and Kawakami, Y. 2000. Decline in FEV(1) in community-based older volunteers with higher levels of neutrophil elastase in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid. *Respiration* 67:261-267.
- 187. Nakamura,H., Yoshimura,K., McElvaney,N.G., and Crystal,R.G. 1992. Neutrophil elastase in respiratory epithelial lining fluid of individuals with cystic fibrosis induces interleukin-8 gene expression in a human bronchial epithelial cell line. J.Clin.Invest 89:1478-1484.
- 188. Nadel, J.A. 2000. Role of neutrophil elastase in hypersecretion during COPD exacerbations, and proposed therapies. *Chest* 117:386S-389S.
- 189. Sommerhoff, C.P., Nadel, J.A., Basbaum, C.B., and Caughey, G.H. 1990. Neutrophil elastase and cathepsin G stimulate secretion from cultured bovine airway gland serous cells. *J. Clin. Invest* 85:682-689.
- 190. Witko-Sarsat, V., Halbwachs-Mecarelli, L., Schuster, A., Nusbaum, P., Ueki, I., Canteloup, S., Lenoir, G., Descamps-Latscha, B., and Nadel, J.A. 1999. Proteinase 3, a potent secretagogue in airways, is present in cystic fibrosis sputum. *Am.J.Respir.Cell Mol.Biol.* 20:729-736.
- 191. Elkington, P.T. and Friedland, J.S. 2005. Matrix metalloproteinases in destructive pulmonary pathology. *Thorax*.
- 192. Owen, C.A. 2005. Proteinases and oxidants as targets in the treatment of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Proc.Am.Thorac.Soc.* 2:373-385.

- 193. Balbin, M., Fueyo, A., Tester, A.M., Pendas, A.M., Pitiot, A.S., Astudillo, A., Overall, C.M., Shapiro, S.D., and Lopez-Otin, C. 2003. Loss of collagenase-2 confers increased skin tumor susceptibility to male mice. *Nat. Genet.* 35:252-257.
- 194. McQuibban,G.A., Gong,J.H., Tam,E.M., McCulloch,C.A., Clark-Lewis,I., and Overall,C.M. 2000. Inflammation dampened by gelatinase A cleavage of monocyte chemoattractant protein-3. *Science* 289:1202-1206.
- 195. McCawley, L.J. and Matrisian, L.M. 2001. Matrix metalloproteinases: they're not just for matrix anymore! *Curr.Opin.Cell Biol.* 13:534-540.
- 196. D'Armiento, J., Dalal, S.S., Okada, Y., Berg, R.A., and Chada, K. 1992. Collagenase expression in the lungs of transgenic mice causes pulmonary emphysema. *Cell* 71:955-961.
- 197. Leco,K.J., Waterhouse,P., Sanchez,O.H., Gowing,K.L., Poole,A.R., Wakeham,A., Mak,T.W., and Khokha,R. 2001. Spontaneous air space enlargement in the lungs of mice lacking tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-3 (TIMP-3). J.Clin.Invest 108:817-829.
- 198. Finlay,G.A., O'Driscoll,L.R., Russell,K.J., D'Arcy,E.M., Masterson,J.B., Fitzgerald,M.X., and O'Connor,C.M. 1997. Matrix metalloproteinase expression and production by alveolar macrophages in emphysema. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 156:240-247.
- 199. Finlay,G.A., Russell,K.J., McMahon,K.J., D'Arcy,E.M., Masterson,J.B., Fitzgerald,M.X., and O'Connor,C.M. 1997. Elevated levels of matrix metalloproteinases in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of emphysematous patients. *Thorax* 52:502-506.
- 200. Segura-Valdez, L., Pardo, A., Gaxiola, M., Uhal, B.D., Becerril, C., and Selman, M. 2000. Upregulation of gelatinases A and B, collagenases 1 and 2, and increased parenchymal cell death in COPD. *Chest* 117:684-694.
- 201. Ohnishi,K., Takagi,M., Kurokawa,Y., Satomi,S., and Konttinen,Y.T. 1998. Matrix metalloproteinase-mediated extracellular matrix protein degradation in human pulmonary emphysema. *Lab Invest* 78:1077-1087.
- 202. Kang,M.J., Oh,Y.M., Lee,J.C., Kim,D.G., Park,M.J., Lee,M.G., Hyun,I.G., Han,S.K., Shim,Y.S., and Jung,K.S. 2003. Lung matrix metalloproteinase-9 correlates with cigarette smoking and obstruction of airflow. *J.Korean Med.Sci.* 18:821-827.
- 203. Imai,K., Dalal,S.S., Chen,E.S., Downey,R., Schulman,L.L., Ginsburg,M., and D'Armiento,J. 2001. Human collagenase (matrix metalloproteinase-1) expression in the lungs of patients with emphysema. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 163:786-791.

- 204. Turk, V., Turk, B., and Turk, D. 2001. Lysosomal cysteine proteases: facts and opportunities. *EMBO J.* 20:4629-4633.
- 205. Chapman, H.A., Riese, R.J., and Shi, G.P. 1997. Emerging roles for cysteine proteases in human biology. *Annu. Rev. Physiol* 59:63-88.
- 206. Takeyabu,K., Betsuyaku,T., Nishimura,M., Yoshioka,A., Tanino,M., Miyamoto,K., and Kawakami,Y. 1998. Cysteine proteinases and cystatin C in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from subjects with subclinical emphysema. *Eur.Respir.J.* 12:1033-1039.
- 207. Montuschi, P., Kharitonov, S.A., Ciabattoni, G., and Barnes, P.J. 2003. Exhaled leukotrienes and prostaglandins in COPD. *Thorax* 58:585-588.
- 208. Smith, W.L., Garavito, R.M., and DeWitt, D.L. 1996. Prostaglandin endoperoxide H synthases (cyclooxygenases)-1 and -2. *J.Biol.Chem.* 271:33157-33160.
- 209. Taha, R., Olivenstein, R., Utsumi, T., Ernst, P., Barnes, P.J., Rodger, I.W., and Giaid, A. 2000. Prostaglandin H synthase 2 expression in airway cells from patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 161:636-640.
- 210. Nygren, H., Lange, S., and Lonnroth, I. 1984. Development of mucous cells in mouse intrapulmonary airways induced by cholera toxin, dibutyryl cyclic AMP and prostaglandin E1. *Br.J.Exp.Pathol.* 65:549-556.
- 211. Borchers, M.T., Carty, M.P., and Leikauf, G.D. 1999. Regulation of human airway mucins by acrolein and inflammatory mediators. *Am.J. Physiol* 276:L549-L555.
- 212. Biernacki, W.A., Kharitonov, S.A., and Barnes, P.J. 2003. Increased leukotriene B4 and 8-isoprostane in exhaled breath condensate of patients with exacerbations of COPD. *Thorax* 58:294-298.
- 213. Seggev, J.S., Thornton, W.H., Jr., and Edes, T.E. 1991. Serum leukotriene B4 levels in patients with obstructive pulmonary disease. *Chest* 99:289-291.
- 214. Hill,A.T., Bayley,D., and Stockley,R.A. 1999. The interrelationship of sputum inflammatory markers in patients with chronic bronchitis. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 160:893-898.
- Goodarzi, K., Goodarzi, M., Tager, A.M., Luster, A.D., and von Andrian, U.H. 2003. Leukotriene B4 and BLT1 control cytotoxic effector T cell recruitment to inflamed tissues. *Nat.Immunol.* 4:965-973.
- 216. MacNee, W. 2001. Oxidative stress and lung inflammation in airways disease. *Eur.J.Pharmacol.* 429:195-207.

- 217. Repine, J.E., Bast, A., and Lankhorst, I. 1997. Oxidative stress in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Oxidative Stress Study Group. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 156:341-357.
- 218. Thompson, A.B., Bohling, T., Heires, A., Linder, J., and Rennard, S.I. 1991. Lower respiratory tract iron burden is increased in association with cigarette smoking. *J.Lab Clin.Med.* 117:493-499.
- 219. Wesselius, L.J., Nelson, M.E., and Skikne, B.S. 1994. Increased release of ferritin and iron by iron-loaded alveolar macrophages in cigarette smokers. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 150:690-695.
- 220. Moreno, J.J., Foroozesh, M., Church, D.F., and Pryor, W.A. 1992. Release of iron from ferritin by aqueous extracts of cigarette smoke. *Chem.Res.Toxicol.* 5:116-123.
- Eiserich, J.P., Vossen, V., O'Neill, C.A., Halliwell, B., Cross, C.E., and van, d., V. 1994. Molecular mechanisms of damage by excess nitrogen oxides: nitration of tyrosine by gas-phase cigarette smoke. *FEBS Lett.* 353:53-56.
- 222. Pinamonti,S., Leis,M., Barbieri,A., Leoni,D., Muzzoli,M., Sostero,S., Chicca,M.C., Carrieri,A., Ravenna,F., Fabbri,L.M. *et al.* 1998. Detection of xanthine oxidase activity products by EPR and HPLC in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Free Radic.Biol.Med.* 25:771-779.
- 223. Cantin, A.M., Fells, G.A., Hubbard, R.C., and Crystal, R.G. 1990. Antioxidant macromolecules in the epithelial lining fluid of the normal human lower respiratory tract. *J.Clin.Invest* 86:962-971.
- 224. Taylor, J.C., Madison, R., and Kosinska, D. 1986. Is antioxidant deficiency related to chronic obstructive pulmonary disease? *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 134:285-289.
- 225. Duthie, G.G., Arthur, J.R., and James, W.P. 1991. Effects of smoking and vitamin E on blood antioxidant status. *Am.J.Clin.Nutr.* 53:1061S-1063S.
- 226. Jendryczko, A., Szpyrka, G., Gruszczynski, J., and Kozowicz, M. 1993. Cigarette smoke exposure of school children: effect of passive smoking and vitamin E supplementation on blood antioxidant status. *Neoplasma* 40:199-203.
- 227. Mezzetti, A., Lapenna, D., Pierdomenico, S.D., Calafiore, A.M., Costantini, F., Riario-Sforza, G., Imbastaro, T., Neri, M., and Cuccurullo, F. 1995. Vitamins E, C and lipid peroxidation in plasma and arterial tissue of smokers and non-smokers. *Atherosclerosis* 112:91-99.
- 228. Sohn,H.O., Lim,H.B., Lee,Y.G., Lee,D.W., and Kim,Y.T. 1993. Effect of subchronic administration of antioxidants against cigarette smoke exposure in rats. *Arch.Toxicol.* 67:667-673.

- 229. Dekhuijzen, P.N., Aben, K.K., Dekker, I., Aarts, L.P., Wielders, P.L., van Herwaarden, C.L., and Bast, A. 1996. Increased exhalation of hydrogen peroxide in patients with stable and unstable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 154:813-816.
- 230. Nowak, D., Kasielski, M., Antczak, A., Pietras, T., and Bialasiewicz, P. 1999. Increased content of thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances and hydrogen peroxide in the expired breath condensate of patients with stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: no significant effect of cigarette smoking. *Respir.Med.* 93:389-396.
- 231. Montuschi, P., Collins, J.V., Ciabattoni, G., Lazzeri, N., Corradi, M., Kharitonov, S.A., and Barnes, P.J. 2000. Exhaled 8-isoprostane as an in vivo biomarker of lung oxidative stress in patients with COPD and healthy smokers. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 162:1175-1177.
- 232. Corradi, M., Rubinstein, I., Andreoli, R., Manini, P., Caglieri, A., Poli, D., Alinovi, R., and Mutti, A. 2003. Aldehydes in exhaled breath condensate of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 167:1380-1386.
- 233. Taggart, C., Cervantes-Laurean, D., Kim, G., McElvaney, N.G., Wehr, N., Moss, J., and Levine, R.L. 2000. Oxidation of either methionine 351 or methionine 358 in alpha 1-antitrypsin causes loss of anti-neutrophil elastase activity. *J.Biol.Chem.* 275:27258-27265.
- 234. Adler,K.B., Holden-Stauffer,W.J., and Repine,J.E. 1990. Oxygen metabolites stimulate release of high-molecular-weight glycoconjugates by cell and organ cultures of rodent respiratory epithelium via an arachidonic acid-dependent mechanism. *J.Clin.Invest* 85:75-85.
- 235. Moodie, F.M., Marwick, J.A., Anderson, C.S., Szulakowski, P., Biswas, S.K., Bauter, M.R., Kilty, I., and Rahman, I. 2004. Oxidative stress and cigarette smoke alter chromatin remodeling but differentially regulate NF-kappaB activation and proinflammatory cytokine release in alveolar epithelial cells. *FASEB J.* 18:1897-1899.
- 236. Gross, P., Pfitzer, E.A., TOLKER, E., Babyak, M.A., and Kaschak, M. 1965. EXPERIMENTAL EMPHYSEMA: ITS PRODUCTION WITH PAPAIN IN NORMAL AND SILICOTIC RATS. *Arch.Environ.Health* 11:50-58.
- 237. Mahadeva, R. and Shapiro, S.D. 2002. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease * 3: Experimental animal models of pulmonary emphysema. *Thorax* 57:908-914.
- 238. Shapiro,S.D., DeMeo,D.L., and Silverman,E.K. 2004. Smoke and mirrors: Mouse models as a reflection of human chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 170:929-931.

- 239. Dawkins, P.A. and Stockley, R.A. 2001. Animal models of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax* 56:972-977.
- 240. Shapiro, S.D. 2000. Animal models for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: age of klotho and marlboro mice. *Am.J.Respir.Cell Mol.Biol.* 22:4-7.
- 241. Shapiro, S.D. 2000. Animal models for COPD. Chest 117:223S-227S.
- 242. Hoyle,G.W., Li,J., Finkelstein,J.B., Eisenberg,T., Liu,J.Y., Lasky,J.A., Athas,G., Morris,G.F., and Brody,A.R. 1999. Emphysematous lesions, inflammation, and fibrosis in the lungs of transgenic mice overexpressing platelet-derived growth factor. *Am.J.Pathol.* 154:1763-1775.
- 243. Wert,S.E., Yoshida,M., LeVine,A.M., Ikegami,M., Jones,T., Ross,G.F., Fisher,J.H., Korfhagen,T.R., and Whitsett,J.A. 2000. Increased metalloproteinase activity, oxidant production, and emphysema in surfactant protein D geneinactivated mice. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 97:5972-5977.
- 244. Brusselle,G.G., Bracke,K.R., Maes,T., D'hulst,A.I., Moerloose,K.B., Joos,G.F., and Pauwels,R.A. 2005. Murine models of COPD. *Pulm.Pharmacol.Ther.*
- 245. Davidson, A. and Diamond, B. 2001. Autoimmune diseases. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 345:340-350.
- 246. Faber, J.P., Poller, W., Olek, K., Baumann, U., Carlson, J., Lindmark, B., and ERIKSSON, S. 1993. The molecular basis of alpha 1-antichymotrypsin deficiency in a heterozygote with liver and lung disease. *J. Hepatol.* 18:313-321.
- 247. Peterson, L.E. 2002. CLUSFAVOR 5.0: hierarchical cluster and principalcomponent analysis of microarray-based transcriptional profiles. *Genome Biol.* 3:SOFTWARE0002.
- 248. Doniger, S.W., Salomonis, N., Dahlquist, K.D., Vranizan, K., Lawlor, S.C., and Conklin, B.R. 2003. MAPPFinder: using Gene Ontology and GenMAPP to create a global gene-expression profile from microarray data. *Genome Biol.* 4:R7.
- 249. Livak, K.J. and Schmittgen, T.D. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods* 25:402-408.
- 250. Takubo, Y., Guerassimov, A., Ghezzo, H., Triantafillopoulos, A., Bates, J.H., Hoidal, J.R., and Cosio, M.G. 2002. Alpha1-antitrypsin determines the pattern of emphysema and function in tobacco smoke-exposed mice: parallels with human disease. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 166:1596-1603.
- 251. Yui,S., Nakatani,Y., and Mikami,M. 2003. Calprotectin (S100A8/S100A9), an inflammatory protein complex from neutrophils with a broad apoptosis-inducing activity. *Biol.Pharm.Bull.* 26:753-760.

- 252. Kelly,S.E., Jones,D.B., and Fleming,S. 1989. Calgranulin expression in inflammatory dermatoses. *J.Pathol.* 159:17-21.
- 253. Roseth, A.G., Fagerhol, M.K., Aadland, E., and Schjonsby, H. 1992. Assessment of the neutrophil dominating protein calprotectin in feces. A methodologic study. *Scand.J.Gastroenterol.* 27:793-798.
- 254. Hayward, C., Glass, S., van, H., V, and Brock, D.J. 1987. Serum concentrations of a granulocyte-derived calcium-binding protein in cystic fibrosis patients and heterozygotes. *Clin.Chim.Acta* 170:45-55.
- 255. Muller, F., Froland, S.S., Aukrust, P., and Fagerhol, M.K. 1994. Elevated serum calprotectin levels in HIV-infected patients: the calprotectin response during ZDV treatment is associated with clinical events. *J.Acquir.Immune.Defic.Syndr.* 7:931-939.
- 256. O'Regan, A. 2003. The role of osteopontin in lung disease. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 14:479-488.
- 257. Zuo,F., Kaminski,N., Eugui,E., Allard,J., Yakhini,Z., Ben Dor,A., Lollini,L., Morris,D., Kim,Y., DeLustro,B. *et al.* 2002. Gene expression analysis reveals matrilysin as a key regulator of pulmonary fibrosis in mice and humans. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A* 99:6292-6297.
- 258. Woodruff, P.G., Koth, L.L., Yang, Y.H., Rodriguez, M.W., Favoreto, S., Dolganov, G.M., Paquet, A.C., and Erle, D.J. 2005. A distinctive alveolar macrophage activation state induced by cigarette smoking. *Am.J.Respir.Crit Care Med.* 172:1383-1392.
- 259. Philip,S., Bulbule,A., and Kundu,G.C. 2001. Osteopontin stimulates tumor growth and activation of promatrix metalloproteinase-2 through nuclear factor-kappa B-mediated induction of membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase in murine melanoma cells. *J.Biol.Chem.* 276:44926-44935.
- Bendeck, M.P., Irvin, C., Reidy, M., Smith, L., Mulholland, D., Horton, M., and Giachelli, C.M. 2000. Smooth muscle cell matrix metalloproteinase production is stimulated via alpha(v)beta(3) integrin. *Arterioscler*. *Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 20:1467-1472.
- 261. Hirata, T., Furie, B.C., and Furie, B. 2002. P-, E-, and L-selectin mediate migration of activated CD8+ T lymphocytes into inflamed skin. *J.Immunol.* 169:4307-4313.
- 262. Hamaguchi, Y., Nishizawa, Y., Yasui, M., Hasegawa, M., Kaburagi, Y., Komura, K., Nagaoka, T., Saito, E., Shimada, Y., Takehara, K. *et al.* 2002. Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and L-selectin regulate bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis. *Am.J. Pathol.* 161:1607-1618.

- 263. Shapiro, S.D. and Senior, R.M. 1999. Matrix metalloproteinases. Matrix degradation and more. *Am.J.Respir.Cell Mol.Biol.* 20:1100-1102.
- 264. Culpitt,S.V., Rogers,D.F., Traves,S.L., Barnes,P.J., and Donnelly,L.E. 2005. Sputum matrix metalloproteases: comparison between chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma. *Respir. Med.* 99:703-710.
- 265. Lanone,S., Zheng,T., Zhu,Z., Liu,W., Lee,C.G., Ma,B., Chen,Q., Homer,R.J., Wang,J., Rabach,L.A. *et al.* 2002. Overlapping and enzyme-specific contributions of matrix metalloproteinases-9 and -12 in IL-13-induced inflammation and remodeling. *J.Clin.Invest* 110:463-474.
- 266. Buhling, F., Rocken, C., Brasch, F., Hartig, R., Yasuda, Y., Saftig, P., Bromme, D., and Welte, T. 2004. Pivotal role of cathepsin K in lung fibrosis. *Am.J.Pathol.* 164:2203-2216.
- 267. Driscoll,K.E. 1994. Macrophage inflammatory proteins: biology and role in pulmonary inflammation. *Exp. Lung Res.* 20:473-490.
- 268. Ward, P.A. 1996. Role of complement, chemokines, and regulatory cytokines in acute lung injury. *Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci.* 796:104-112.
- Song,H.K., Noorchashm,H., Lin,T.H., Moore,D.J., Greeley,S.A., Caton,A.J., and Naji,A. 2003. Specialized CC-chemokine secretion by Th1 cells in destructive autoimmune myocarditis. *J.Autoimmun.* 21:295-303.
- Garnero, P., Borel, O., Byrjalsen, I., Ferreras, M., Drake, F.H., McQueney, M.S., Foged, N.T., Delmas, P.D., and Delaisse, J.M. 1998. The collagenolytic activity of cathepsin K is unique among mammalian proteinases. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273:32347-32352.
- 271. Okaji,M., Sakai,H., Sakai,E., Shibata,M., Hashimoto,F., Kobayashi,Y., Yoshida,N., Okamoto,K., Yamamoto,K., and Kato,Y. 2003. The regulation of bone resorption in tooth formation and eruption processes in mouse alveolar crest devoid of cathepsin k. J. Pharmacol.Sci. 91:285-294.
- 272. Rahman, I. and MacNee, W. 2000. Oxidative stress and regulation of glutathione in lung inflammation. *Eur. Respir. J.* 16:534-554.
- 273. Chakraborti, S., Mandal, M., Das, S., Mandal, A., and Chakraborti, T. 2003. Regulation of matrix metalloproteinases: an overview. *Mol. Cell Biochem.* 253:269-285.
- 274. Lavigne, M.C. and Eppihimer, M.J. 2005. Cigarette smoke condensate induces MMP-12 gene expression in airway-like epithelia. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* 330:194-203.

- 275. Mizuki,K., Kadomatsu,K., Hata,K., Ito,T., Fan,Q.W., Kage,Y., Fukumaki,Y., Sakaki,Y., Takeshige,K., and Sumimoto,H. 1998. Functional modules and expression of mouse p40(phox) and p67(phox), SH3-domain-containing proteins involved in the phagocyte NADPH oxidase complex. *Eur.J.Biochem.* 251:573-582.
- 276. Kerkhoff,C., Nacken,W., Benedyk,M., Dagher,M.C., Sopalla,C., and Doussiere,J.
 2005. The arachidonic acid-binding protein S100A8/A9 promotes NADPH
 oxidase activation by interaction with p67phox and Rac-2. *FASEB J.* 19:467-469.
- 277. Henson, P.M. and Vandivier, R.W. 2006. The matrix degrades, neutrophils invade. *Nat.Med.* 12:280-281.

Appendices